PRUDENCE, STRANDED ASSETS AND THE REGULATION OF UTILITIES: A REVIEW OF ALBERTA UTILITY REGULATORY PRINCIPLES IN A POST *STORES BLOCK* ERA

Authors: Lou Cusano, David Wood, Evan Dickinson and Gino Bruni*

Date May 11, 2018

^{*} Lou Cusano is a partner at Torys LLP, David Wood is senior counsel at Torys LLP, Evan Dickinson is a senior associate at Torys LLP, and Gino Bruni is an associate at Torys LLP. The authors would like to thank Aaron Zambonin for his research and assistance in the preparation of this paper.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	3
PRE-STORES BLOCK	
RETURN ON RATE BASE AND PRUDENCY Sale of Property Outside the Ordinary Course of Business and the TransAlta Formula	
STORES BLOCK	
POST STORES BLOCK DECISIONS	
CARBON	
HARVEST HILLS	
SALT CAVERNS	12
UTILITY ASSET DISPOSITION DECISIONS	13
THE UAD DECISION	13
THE UAD APPEAL	
POST-UAD COMMISSION DECISIONS	18
Slave Lake Fires Decision	
SOUTHERN ALBERTA FLOODS DECISION	
AMI METER DECISIONS	21
Decision 3100-D01-2015	
Decision 20407-D01-2016	
Decision 22394-D01-2018	
(i) OPG (ii) ATCO Pension	
THE AUC APPEARS UNLIKELY TO CHANGE ITS POSITION	
IN ITS INTERPRETATION OF STORES BLOCK THE AUC STANDS ALONE	
STRANDED ASSET RISK - WHERE DO WE STAND TODAY AS A RESULT OF THE STORES B	
LINE OF CASES?	28
THE EXTRAORDINARY RETIREMENT TEST – FUTURE RECOVERY DEPENDS ON RETIREMENT HISTORY	
THE EXTRAORDINARY RETIREMENT TEST – IMPLICATIONS FOR INVESTMENT IN NEW TECHNOLOGY	
Is the No-hindsight Prudence Test Dead?	
NO COMPENSATION FOR STRANDED ASSET RISK	33
CONCLUSION	36
A NEW CHAPTER?	

INTRODUCTION

On November 26, 2013 the Alberta Utilities Commission (the "**Commission**" or the "**AUC**") issued a decision that sent shockwaves through the boardrooms of Alberta regulated electricity and gas utilities, and energized the pens of credit rating agencies. Half a decade on, the implications and boundaries of principles laid out in this decision are still actively being explored. Known as the Utility Asset Disposition ("UAD") Decision, it was one of several decisions building on and interpreting the Supreme Court of Canada's 2006 *Stores Block* ruling.¹ The UAD Decision altered the expectations and understandings of both utilities and ratepayers regarding the financial consequences of stranded utility assets,² an understanding that had been in place for as long as utilities have been regulated in Alberta.

The road to the UAD Decision began in 2006 with *Stores Block*. In that decision, the Court recognized that in accordance with fundamental corporate and property law principles, the ownership of utility assets, and thus the right to any gain upon their disposition, resided solely with utilities. *Stores Block* triggered a number of regulatory, Alberta Court of Appeal and Supreme Court of Canada decisions as utilities, regulators and ratepayers grappled with the implications of the property ownership principles set out in *Stores Block*. In Alberta, these implications have included the handling of utility asset dispositions, the concept of utility rate base, the prudent investment test, and the treatment of stranded assets.

This paper seeks to explore the evolution of these issues from *Stores Block* to the UAD Decision and beyond. In the first part of the paper we review the development of jurisprudence and regulatory decisions from the pre-*Stores Block* era to the present day, with a particular focus on the evolution of the treatment of the regulatory concepts described above. The paper then considers the implications of the path taken by the Commission, including possible unintended consequences for both utilities and ratepayers, as well as potential future developments in response to the UAD Decision.

PRE-STORES BLOCK

Return on Rate Base and Prudency

It has long been a principle in Canadian law that utilities are entitled to a reasonable opportunity to recover their prudently incurred costs and expenses, and to earn a fair return on behalf of their investors. In exchange for this right, and the right of exclusivity of service, utilities are obliged to provide safe, adequate and reliable service at reasonable rates to all customers within their service territory.³ This principle, often referred to as "the regulatory compact", is the underpinning foundational concept of utility rate regulation in Canada. While each Canadian province has legislation governing the regulation of public utilities, not all aspects of the regulatory compact are explicitly addressed in that legislation.

Utilities have been subject to rate regulation in Alberta since the Board of Public Utilities Commissioners was created by *The Public Utilities Act*, in 1915.⁴ Since its inception, the principal function of the Board of Public Utilities Commissioners and each of its successors has been the determination and fixing of reasonable rates for utility service. Although there are different ratemaking models (such as cost of service

¹ ATCO Gas and Pipelines v Alberta, 2006 SCC 4, [2006] 1 SCR 140 [Stores Block].

 $^{^{2}}$ An asset is "stranded" if it is removed from service before the end of its presumed life (that is, before it has been completely depreciated). Assets may be stranded because they have been destroyed, or if they are replaced to accommodate the adoption of new technologies, for example.

³ Northwestern Utilities Ltd v City of Edmonton, [1929] SCR 186 at 192, 193; Stores Block, supra note 1 at paras 63, 64.

⁴ Stores Block, supra note 1 at para 55; The Public Utilities Act, SA 1915, c 6 [PUA 1915].

and performance-based regulation⁵), the resulting rates must provide the utility with a reasonable opportunity to recover its prudent costs and a fair return. A utility's cost of service includes the costs required to operate and maintain its assets (generally referred to as operating and maintenance or "**O&M**" costs). It also includes the cost of the assets themselves, often referred to as "plant." Utilities generally finance capital assets using a mix of debt and equity in proportion to the capital structure approved by the regulator, and they are entitled to a return *on* and a return *of* capital. The return *on* capital is in the form of a return on equity ("**ROE**") set by the regulator. The return *of* capital is achieved through the recovery of depreciation expense through utility rates.⁶ Utilities are also entitled to recover the interest they pay on debt issued to finance plant. All of the costs, expenses and return that a utility has a right to recover, as approved by its regulator, make up the utility's revenue requirement. This is the utility's revenue "pie." The application of rate design principles determines how the pie is divided among the various rate classes, but the utility is always entitled to an opportunity to recover the whole pie from its ratepayers.

The ROE is the utility's profit. Utilities only earn a return on that portion of plant that is financed with equity. There is no return on O&M (although if a utility spends less on O&M than the amount assumed in the approved revenue requirement, it will earn more than the approved ROE). A utility's "rate base" is generally equal to its total capital investment less accumulated depreciation,⁷ and the ROE is calculated on the equity-funded portion of its rate base balance.

A utility's right to a reasonable opportunity to recover its costs and expenses and a fair return applies only to costs and expenses that are "prudent", "reasonable and prudent" or "prudently incurred". The language varies from statute to statute, but the underlying principle is that utilities risk the disallowance of costs and expenses that the regulator determines were imprudent. The long-standing test for prudence in Alberta is as follows:

... a utility will be found prudent if it exercises good judgment and makes decisions which are reasonable at the time they are made, based on information the owner of the utility knew or ought to have known at the time the decision was made. In making decisions, a utility must take into account the best interests of its customers, while still being entitled to a fair return.⁸

⁵ Under cost of service regulation, the regulator approves a revenue requirement that is based on a reasonable forecast of the costs the utility expects to incur during the "test period" (the period for which the rates are approved) to provide utility service. Under performance-based regulation ("**PBR**"), the regulator approves going-in rates for the first year of the test period, and then in subsequent years of the test period, the revenue requirement is adjusted using a formula that changes the rates or revenue requirement by inflation less a productivity factor. The test period for cost of service rates is typically one or two years, while the test period for PBR rates is generally longer (such as five years).

⁶ Depreciation is the process by which the cost of a capital asset is allocated over its useful life. This cost is recovered through depreciation expense, calculated using depreciation rates approved by the regulator. These rates may differ from the rates permitted under income tax legislation.

⁷ This is a simplified explanation that ignores the effect of customer contributions or no-cost capital, for example, but it is sufficiently accurate for the purposes of this paper.

⁸ Methodology for Managing Gas Supply Portfolios and Determining Gas Cost Recover Rates Proceeding and Gas Rate Unbundling Proceeding (12 December, 2001), 2001-110, online: EUB

http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2001/2001-110.pdf> [2001-110], citing 1999/2000 General Rate Application Phase 1 and Phase 2 (2 February 2000), 2000-1, online: EUB

http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2000/2000-01.pdf> at 105.

and Alberta Power Limited, Edmonton Power and TransAlta Utilities Corporation (10 December 1993), Alta PUB Decision No. E93094 at 105. This test was affirmed in ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd v Alberta (Energy and Utilities Board), 2005 ABCA 122, [2005] 10 WWR 299.

The reference to "at the time it was made" means that the test for prudence was not based on the application of hindsight.⁹ As such, once an expenditure on an asset or a capital investment was found to have been prudently incurred, it remained a prudent investment, and therefore part of rate base, until such time as it was either fully depreciated, or the utility elected to remove the asset from rate base. This is known as the "no-hindsight prudent investment test." For example, under this test, if a regulator approved the cost of a new transmission line and allowed that cost to be included in rate base, the utility was entitled to a reasonable opportunity to recover depreciation expense and ROE in respect of that transmission line, even if, for example, that transmission line was destroyed before it was completely depreciated. Assets that are not or can no longer be used for utility service, but which have not been completely depreciated, are said to be "stranded." Under the no-hindsight prudent investment test, the risk of stranded assets is borne by ratepayers. Once a capital expenditure was determined to be prudent and the related asset was placed into service, the utility was assured of full cost recovery.

Sale of Property Outside the Ordinary Course of Business and the TransAlta Formula

One of the incidental powers granted to the Board of Public Utilities Commissioners in the 1915 statute was the authority to approve the sale of any utility property outside of the ordinary course of utility business.¹⁰ This power persists today, and Alberta gas and electric utilities are required to obtain Commission approval before they "sell, lease, mortgage or otherwise dispose of or encumber [their] property, franchises, privileges or rights, or any part of it or them" outside the "ordinary course of the owner's business".¹¹

Historically, the Commission's predecessors applied a "no harm" test to determine whether or not to approve a disposition of utility property. Under this test, the utility must show that the proposed disposition would not harm customers, either in the form of higher rates or a degradation of service.¹² If a proposed transaction potentially resulted in a material harm to customers, or left them worse off in either respect, the regulator would deny the application, unless the harm could be mitigated through the allocation of the proceeds of sale to ratepayers.¹³

If a proposed disposition passed the no harm test, the practice was then to determine the allocation of the proceeds of the sale of the property. Although the power to allocate proceeds of the sale of utility property has never been expressly provided for in any of the statutory schemes governing utility regulation in Alberta,¹⁴ the Commission's predecessors determined that they had jurisdiction to do so by virtue of their broad public interest mandate and general supervisory power over public utilities, combined with their legislated authority to impose conditions on orders and authorizations made in exercise of their jurisdiction.¹⁵

⁹ 2001-110, *supra* note 8 at 9.

¹⁰ *PUA 1915*, *supra* note 4, s 29(g).

¹¹ Gas Utilities Act, RSA 2000, c G-5, s 26(2)(d) [GUA]; Public Utilities Act, RSA 2000, c P-45, s. 101(2)(d) [PUA].

¹² TransAlta Utilities Corporation Sale of Distribution Business (5 July 2000) 2000-41, online: EUB <

http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2000/2000-41.pdf> at 8 [2000-41].

¹³ *Utility Asset Disposition* (26 November 2013), 2013-417, online: AUC < http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2013/2013-417.pdf> at para 20 [**UAD Decision**]; 2000-41, *supra* note 12 at 8.

¹⁴ Stores Block, supra note 1 at paras 54 - 59.

¹⁵ 2000-41, supra note 12 at 8; ATCO Gas – North a Division of ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd – Sale of Certain Petroleum and Natural Gas Rights, Production and Gathering Assets, Storage Assets and Inventory (31 July 2001), 2001-65, online: EUB < http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2001/2001-65.pdf> at 16.

Prior to 1986, the Public Utility Board's practice was to allocate the entire gain or loss arising on the disposition of the sale of utility assets to customers. This allocation was driven by the Board's general direction to set "just and reasonable rates" in order to ensure that utilities earned a fair return, nothing more and nothing less, as a result of windfall gains or losses on the disposition of property.¹⁶

This practice changed in 1986 in response to the Alberta Court of Appeal's decision in *TransAlta Utilities Corporation v. Alberta (Public Utilities Board).*¹⁷ This appeal arose in the context of the sale of utility assets from TransAlta to the City of Edmonton as a result of the expansion of the city through annexation into a distribution service area previously served by TransAlta. In *TransAlta,* the Court disagreed with the "general rule" previously applied by the Board that any profit or loss resulting from the disposal of utility assets outside the ordinary course of business should accrue to the benefit of customers.¹⁸ The Court held that customers were only entitled to be credited for the inflation adjusted present value of the depreciation allowance¹⁹ that had been previously recovered in relation to the assets by TransAlta in its rates. The rationale for this was that "to the extent...that allowance for depreciation has been made, the original investment has already been returned to the investors."²⁰ The Court concluded that the balance of the proceeds of sale of utility assets were for the utility shareholders, on the basis that "subject to the depreciation allowance, the proceeds must be deemed to be the present value of this portion of the rate base, and should not be assigned to revenue."²¹

Based on the decision of the Court in *TransAlta*, the Alberta Energy and Utilities Board (the "**EUB**") applied what came to be known as the "TransAlta Formula" in several subsequent decisions. The EUB described the TransAlta Formula in EUB Decision 2000-41:

[T]he Board has interpreted the Court of Appeal's conclusion to mean that where the sale price exceeds the original cost of the assets, shareholders are entitled to net book value (in historical dollars), customers are entitled to the difference between net book value and original cost, and any appreciation in the value of the assets (i.e. the difference between original cost and the sale price) is to be shared by shareholders and customers. The amount to be shared by each is determined by multiplying the ratio of sale price/original cost to the net book value (for shareholders) and the difference between original cost and net book value (for customers). However, where the sale price does not exceed original cost, customers are entitled to all of the gain on sale.²²

The TransAlta Formula was used from 1986 until Stores Block.

¹⁶ *TransAlta Utilities Corporation v Alberta (Public Utilities Board)*, 1986 ABCA 64 at para 14, [1986] AWLD 434 [*TransAlta*]; See the Public Utilities Board (the "**PUB**") decision in *Gas Utilities Act and Public Utilities Board Act* (12 October 1984), Alta PUB Decision No. E84113 at 18 – 20 [**Decision No. E84113**]. Although Decision No. E84113 considered the *GUA*, an identical statement was made by the PUB in *TransAlta Utilities Corp (1984)* (12 October 1984), Alta PUB Decision No. E84116 at 16.

¹⁷ *TransAlta*, *supra* note 16.

¹⁸ *Ibid* at paras 16, 17.

¹⁹ A depreciation allowance allows an investor to recover the original capital investment it made in relation to its depreciable assets. The effect of a depreciation allowance is to permit an investor to charge a surcharge beyond the approved rate of return because the deemed depreciation is treated as a cost for accounting purposes.

²⁰ TransAlta, supra note 16 at paras 43-46.

²¹ *Ibid* at para 43.

²² 2000-41, *supra* note 12 at 26, 27.

STORES BLOCK

In August 2001, ATCO Gas sought approval for the sale of land and buildings located just outside downtown Calgary, known as the Stores Block. ATCO Gas informed the EUB that the property was no longer used and useful in the provision of gas utility services and requested that a sale to the Calgary Co-operative Association Limited be approved under section 26 of the *Gas Utilities Act* (the "*GUA*").²³ ATCO Gas claimed that the property would provide no ongoing benefit or service to customers, that the proposed sale would result in no harm to customers, and that the sale would actually reduce customer costs by \$625,000 over a 10 year period. ATCO Gas argued that the proceeds of sale should first be used to retire the remaining net book value of the property from rate base and cover any costs of disposition, and that the balance of the net proceeds of the sale should accrue to the benefit of shareholders as a gain on sale.²⁴ Although ATCO's argument did not comply with the TransAlta Formula, ATCO argued that its entitlement to the entire proceeds of the sale was a 'necessary incident of ownership' of the property, and that *TransAlta* could be distinguished on its facts.²⁵

In Decision 2001-78, the EUB found that the sale satisfied the no harm test and approved it. However, it deferred consideration of the application and disposition of the proceeds of the sale, including any net gain on the sale, to a subsequent proceeding.²⁶ In Decision 2002-037 the EUB reaffirmed the finding of no harm²⁷ and determined that it was appropriate to allocate the \$6.1 million in proceeds from the sale, including a \$5.4 million net gain in accordance with the TransAlta Formula. As such the net proceeds of the sale of the property were divided as follows:

- ATCO Gas was allocated an amount equal to the net book value of the property (\$225k);
- customers were allocated an amount equal to the accumulated depreciation on the property (\$455k); and
- the \$5.4 million gain on sale was divided between ATCO Gas and customers in accordance with the ratio of sale price/original cost to the net book value (for shareholders) and the difference between original cost and net book value (for customers), resulting in customers being allocated \$3.6 million, and ATCO Gas being allocated \$1.8 million.²⁸

ATCO Gas appealed this decision to the Alberta Court of Appeal, arguing that the EUB did not have the jurisdiction to apportion the net proceeds of sale. The Court of Appeal agreed with ATCO Gas and overturned the EUB's decision.²⁹ The Court of Appeal held that although the EUB had a broad mandate under its governing legislation to protect consumers in the public interest, this statutory grant of authority was not unlimited, and was confined to powers either explicitly statutorily granted or "necessary by

²³ GUA, supra note 11, s 26(2)(d); PUA, supra note 11, s 101(2)(d).

²⁴ ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd – Disposition of Calgary Stores Block and Distribution of Net Proceeds – Part 2 (21 March 2002), 2002-037, online: EUB http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2002/2002-037.pdf [2002-037].

²⁵ *Ibid* at 20.

²⁶ ATCO Gas Pipelines Ltd – Disposition of Calgary Stores Block and Distribution of Net Proceeds – Part 1 (24 October 2001), 2001-78, online: EUB http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2001/2001-78.pdf.

²⁷ 2002-037, *supra* note 24 at 16, 18.

²⁸ *Ibid* at Appendix A.

²⁹ ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd v Alberta (Energy and Utilities Board), 2004 ABCA 3, [2004] 4 WWR 239 [SBCA].

implication" to fulfil its statutory mandate.³⁰ The Court noted that although section 15(3) of the *Alberta Energy and Utilities Board Act*³¹ authorized the EUB to attach conditions to any order that the Board considers to be necessary in the public interest, any such condition must, by implication, be necessary to protect a public interest.³²

The Court of Appeal held that since the EUB had determined that no harm would result to customers from the sale, the EUB had no authority to allocate the proceeds of sale, as there was no harm to the public interest to protect against.³³ On this basis, the Court of Appeal determined that the EUB's allocation of a portion of the gain on the sale of ATCO Gas' property to customers in accordance with the TransAlta Formula exceeded its jurisdiction and was confiscatory,³⁴ as customers do not have a proprietary interest in utility assets:

Consumers of utilities pay for a service, but by such payment, do not receive a proprietary right in the assets of the utility company. Where the calculated rates represent the fee for the service provided in the relevant period of time, ratepayers do not gain equitable or legal rights to non-depreciable assets when they have paid only for the use of those assets.³⁵

The Court of Appeal therefore directed that the entire net proceeds of the sale, less an amount equal to accumulated depreciation, be credited to ATCO Gas.³⁶

The EUB and The City of Calgary both sought leave to appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada. ATCO Gas filed a conditional cross-appeal. The Supreme Court of Canada granted leave. The Supreme Court of Canada ruled that the EUB did not have the right to appeal its own decisions, but granted it intervener status.³⁷

A majority of the Supreme Court of Canada³⁸ dismissed Calgary's appeal and concluded that the EUB had no statutory jurisdiction to allocate to ratepayers a portion of any net gain realized on the sale of utility property outside the ordinary course of business.³⁹ The majority also allowed ATCO Gas' cross-appeal of the Alberta Court of Appeal's decision to allocate to ratepayers a portion of the sales proceeds equal to the accumulated depreciation. It also held that the Court of Appeal had erred and should have concluded that the EUB had no jurisdiction to allocate *any* portion of the proceeds of sale of the property to ratepayers.⁴⁰ In so doing, the Supreme Court of Canada ended the use of the TransAlta Formula.

Bastarache J. based his decision on two key holdings (applying a correctness standard of review).⁴¹ First, he held that the powers of the EUB, though broad, are limited to those granted to it by its enabling statutes,

⁴¹ *Ibid* at para 21, applying *Pushpanathan v Canada*, [1998] 1 SCR 982, 160 DLR (4th) 193. *Stores Block (supra* note 1) was decided before *Dunsmuir v New Brunswick*, 2008 SCC 9, [2008] 1 SCR 190. It is tempting to wonder whether the Court would

³⁰ *Ibid* at paras 49 - 53.

³¹ Alberta Energy and Utilities Board Act, SA 1994, c A-19.5, s 15(3)(d).

³² SBCA, supra note 29 at para 50.

³³ *Ibid* at paras 61, 62, 63.

³⁴ *Ibid* at para 67.

 $^{^{35}}$ *Ibid* at para 64.

 $^{^{36}}$ *Ibid* at para 68.

³⁷ The City of Calgary v Atco Gas and Pipelines Ltd, [2004] SCCA No 120.

³⁸ Per Bastarache J. (LeBel, Deschamps and Charron JJ. concurring) Binnie J. dissenting (McLachlin C.J. and Fish J. concurring).

³⁹ Stores Block, supra note 1 at para 18.

⁴⁰ Ibid at para 34.

and that the EUB's ability to impose conditions must be contextually interpreted in light of its main functions of fixing just and reasonable rates and protecting the integrity and dependability of the supply system. Second, he held that property employed by utilities in providing utility service to customers belongs solely to the utility and its shareholders, and that the regulatory compact does not transfer any property right to customers. Bastarache J. also held that allowing the EUB to allocate a portion of the proceeds of sale of utility property to ratepayers is contrary to the regulatory compact and principles of property ownership:

[T]he "regulatory compact", [...] ensures that all customers have access to the utility at a fair price — nothing more. As I will further explain, it does not transfer onto the customers any property right. Under the regulatory compact, the regulated utilities are given exclusive rights to sell their services within a specific area at rates that will provide companies the opportunity to earn a fair return for their investors. In return for this right of exclusivity, utilities assume a duty to adequately and reliably serve all customers in their determined territories, and are required to have their rates and certain operations regulated.

...[W]hen interpreting the broad powers of the Board, one cannot ignore this wellbalanced regulatory arrangement which serves as a backdrop for contextual interpretation. The object of the statutes is to protect both the customer and the investor. The arrangement does not, however, cancel the private nature of the utility. In essence, the Board is responsible for maintaining a tariff that enhances the economic benefits to consumers and investors of the utility.

The fact that the utility is given the opportunity to make a profit on its services and a fair return on its investment in its assets should not and cannot stop the utility from benefiting from the profits which follow the sale of assets. Neither is the utility protected from losses incurred from the sale of assets... ownership of the assets is clearly that of the utility; ownership of the asset and entitlement to profits or losses upon its realization are one and the same. [*Citations omitted*]⁴²

Bastarache J. confirmed that "[t]hrough the rates, the customers pay an amount for the regulated service that equals the cost of the service and the necessary resources. They do not by their payment implicitly purchase the asset from the utility's investors. The payment does not incorporate acquiring ownership or control of the utility's assets. The ratepayer covers the cost of using the service, not the holding cost of the assets themselves."⁴³ On this basis, he concluded for the majority that the EUB misdirected itself when it confused the interests of the customers in obtaining safe and efficient utility service with an interest in the underlying assets owned only by the utility, and allocated a portion of the proceeds of sale of ATCO Gas' property to ratepayers.⁴⁴

It is important to note that the issues considered in the *Stores Block* were relatively narrow. On its facts, the *Stores Block* decision was limited to consideration of the jurisdiction of the Commission when considering an application under the *GUA* by a gas utility to dispose of assets outside the ordinary course of business. Although Bastarache J. made broad pronouncements about the nature of utility asset ownership, the

have applied a reasonableness standard of review if the case were before it today, on the basis that the issue involved the interpretation of the EUB's "home" statute.

⁴² Stores Block, supra note 1 at paras 63 - 67.

 $^{^{43}}$ *Ibid* at para 68.

⁴⁴ *Ibid* at para 69.

decision did not deal with anything but the disposition of gas utility assets outside the ordinary course of business.

Initially the decision in *Stores Block* was well received by Alberta utilities, who at the time, could not foresee how the Commission would interpret and extend it.

POST STORES BLOCK DECISIONS

In a number of post-*Stores Block* decisions, the EUB, the AUC and the Alberta Court of Appeal have explored the implications of the principles identified in *Stores Block*. This has included the principles that by paying rates for utility service customers acquire no proprietary interest in the assets used to provide that service, that utilities alone are entitled to gains on the disposition of utility property outside the ordinary course of business, and that ownership of the asset and entitlement to profits or losses on its realization are one and the same.⁴⁵ Key aspects of these post-*Stores Block* decisions that paved the way for the UAD Decision are summarized below.

Carbon⁴⁶

In *Carbon*, the EUB and the Alberta Court of Appeal considered the meaning of the phrase "used or required to be used to provide service" from section 37 of the *GUA*, in order to determine when assets should be in a gas utility's rate base.

For decades, ATCO Gas had owned and operated a natural gas storage facility ("**Carbon Storage**"). Carbon Storage had initially been used in connection with ATCO Gas' regulated gas distribution business as well as for revenue generation (which was passed through to customers as a reduction to ATCO Gas' revenue requirement) by leasing excess storage capacity to third parties. However, following the restructuring of the energy industry in Alberta that created a competitive unregulated market for retail electricity and natural gas, ATCO Gas sold its retail function to Direct Energy Regulated Services. This meant ATCO Gas no longer needed Carbon Storage in order to provide regulated gas utility service. ATCO Gas continued to lease storage to third parties, however.

ATCO Gas took the position that Carbon Storage was no longer "used or required to be used to provide service to the public" and was thus not properly part of its rate base under section 37 of the *GUA*. In Decision 2007-005⁴⁷ the EUB concluded that Carbon Storage continued to be "used or required to be used to provide service" because it had played a unique historical role as an operational part of ATCO's gas distribution system and continued to generate revenue by leasing excess storage capacity to third parties.

The Alberta Court of Appeal overturned the decision on the basis that EUB had wrongly included Carbon Storage in rate base when its only remaining function was to generate alternate, non-utility, revenue. The Court held that the "used or required to be used to provide a service" test under Section 37 of the *GUA* was intended to capture assets that are presently used, are reasonably used, and are likely to be used in the future to provide utility services. Past or historical use of assets should not permit asset inclusion in rate base unless such assets continue to be used to provide a utility service, in an operational sense.⁴⁸ The Court

⁴⁵ An extensive summary and canvassing of jurisprudential and Commission treatment and consideration of the *Stores Block* decision is set out at 15 - 32 of the UAD Decision (*supra* note 13), discussed subsequently.

⁴⁶ ATCO Gas South, Re, 2007 CarswellAlta 1478 (EUB) [2007-05]; ATCO Gas South, Re, 2008 ABCA 200, [2008] AWLD 2662 [*Carbon*].

⁴⁷ 2007-05, *supra* note 46 at 26, 27.

⁴⁸ Carbon, supra note 46 at paras 23, 25.

reasoned that, just because an asset was previously properly included in rate base, does not mean that such asset will be in rate base forever.⁴⁹ The Court stated that to find otherwise would be inconsistent with *Stores Block*:

The Act does not contain any provision or presumption that once an asset is part of the rate base, it is forever a part of the rate base regardless of its function. The concept of assets becoming "dedicated to service" and so remaining in the rate base forever is inconsistent with the decision in *Stores Block* (at para. 69). Such an approach would fetter the discretion of the Board in dealing with changing circumstances. Previous inclusion in the rate base is not determinative or necessarily important...: "That was then, this is now". [*Citations omitted*.]⁵⁰

The Court of Appeal also noted that under the gas utility regulatory regime, revenue generation cannot reasonably be regarded as a 'utility service' given that the delivery of gas is the utility service according to Section 28(e) of the *GUA*. Building on *Stores Block*, the Court of Appeal concluded that, just as utility customers do not obtain an ownership interest in assets of a utility, they also have no interest in or right to the profits, unregulated revenues or unregulated businesses of the utility.⁵¹

Harvest Hills⁵²

In *Harvest Hills*, the EUB and the Alberta Court of Appeal considered the appropriate treatment of property which, although no longer required for utility service, remained in rate base and revisited what constitutes harm under the "no harm" test.

In EUB Decision 2007-101, the EUB considered an application by ATCO Gas to subdivide certain lands in Calgary that were included in its rate base (the "**Harvest Hills Property**"). Part of the Harvest Hills Property had been used to construct a regulating station used for utility service. However, another part of the land was vacant and had never been used for utility purposes. ATCO Gas proposed to subdivide the Harvest Hills Property, retain the portion used for utility service and sell the remaining portion (the "**Surplus Lands**") to a third party. Relying on *Stores Block*, ATCO Gas argued that its shareholder was entitled to the net proceeds of the sale. Although ATCO Gas did not anticipate that the Surplus Land would be required in the future for utility service, it indicated that within five years of the proposed disposition, it would need to purchase land approximately five kilometers from the Harvest Hills Property for utility use (the "**Future Development**").⁵³

The EUB concluded that the sale did not meet no harm test, because the sale of the Surplus Lands followed by the Future Development would cause financial harm to customers.⁵⁴ Relying on paragraph 77 of the *Stores Block* decision,⁵⁵ the EUB approved the sale, but directed that the net proceeds from the disposition

⁵³ *Harvest Hills, supra* note 52 at para 8.

⁴⁹ *Ibid* at para 29.

⁵⁰ *Ibid* at para 29.

⁵¹ *Ibid* at para 30.

⁵² ATCO Gas – Disposition of Land in the Harvest Hills Area (11 December 2007), 2007-101, online: EUB < http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2007/2007-101.pdf> [2007-101]; ATCO Gas, Re, 2009 ABCA 171, [2009] AWLD 2550 [Harvest Hills].

⁵⁴ 2007-101, *supra* note 52 at 7.

⁵⁵ Stores Block, supra note 1 at para 77: "The Board has other options within its jurisdiction which do not involve the appropriation of the sale proceeds, the most obvious one being to refuse to approve a sale that will, in the Board's view, affect the quality and/or quantity of the service offered by the utility or create additional operating costs for the future. This is not to say that the Board can never attach a condition to the approval of sale. For example, the Board could approve the sale of the assets on the condition that

of the Harvest Hills Property be used to offset the construction costs of the Future Development.⁵⁶ The Court of Appeal allowed ATCO Gas' appeal, concluding that the EUB erred in its application of the no harm test. The Court stated that the harm must be related to the transaction in question and that costs incurred independently of the transaction (the cost of the Future Development) did not amount to harm. In the absence of harm, the EUB did not have the right to impose financial conditions on the sale (which the Court found to be an improper subsidy of ratepayers by the utility shareholder).⁵⁷

The Court of Appeal also found that just because the Surplus Lands portion of the Harvest Hills Property was never used to provide utility services did not mean that it was improperly included in rate base. However, it did hold that once ATCO Gas determined that the Surplus Lands were not required to provide utility service, they should have been removed from rate base as they were no longer "used or required to be used" as required by section 37 of the *GUA*.⁵⁸ On its face, the Court of Appeal's reasoning appears sound, given the absence of any real nexus between the sale of the Surplus Lands and the Future Development.

Salt Caverns⁵⁹

In *Salt Caverns*, the issue of when regulatory approval under section 26 of the *GUA* is required to remove property and assets from rate base was considered by the EUB and the Court of Appeal.

In 2007, ATCO Gas filed a general rate application with the EUB. In that application it excluded certain underground gas storage assets (the "**Salt Cavern Assets**") from its rate base. In its application, ATCO Gas informed the EUB that the assets were no longer being used for utility service. The EUB directed ATCO Gas to include the Salt Cavern Assets in its application. The EUB stated that removal from rate base constituted a disposition that required advance EUB approval under paragraph 26(2)(d) of the *GUA*.⁶⁰

ATCO Gas successfully appealed the ruling. The Court of Appeal concluded that the EUB did not have the jurisdiction to include assets that no longer have any operational use in rate base.⁶¹ It further held that the unilateral withdrawal from utility service of an asset that is no longer used or required to be used is not a "disposition" within the meaning of subsection 26(2) of the *GUA*.⁶² The Court found that ending a particular use of an asset without any sale, transfer or relinquishment of the asset to a third party does not require regulatory approval,⁶³ and it affirmed that section 26 of the *GUA* does not apply to non-utility assets.⁶⁴ The Court did say that a determination of whether an asset was used or required to be used for utility service was within the EUB's jurisdiction.⁶⁵

the utility company gives undertakings regarding the replacement of the assets and their profitability. It could also require as a condition that the utility reinvest part of the sale proceeds back into the company in order to maintain a modern operating system that achieves the optimal growth of the system."

⁵⁶ *Harvest Hills, supra* note 52 at para 11.

⁵⁷ *Ibid* at para 32.

⁵⁸ *Ibid* at para 14.

⁵⁹ ATCO Gas & Pipelines Ltd v Alberta (Utilities Commission), 2009 ABCA 246, [2009] AWLD 3078 [Salt Caverns].

⁶⁰ *Ibid* at para 4.

 $^{^{61}}$ *Ibid* at para 14.

⁶² *Ibid* at paras 51 - 56.

⁶³ *Ibid* at para 56.

⁶⁴ *Ibid* at para 55.

⁶⁵ *Ibid* at paras 28 – 30, 54.

The Court of Appeal's reasoning is compelling, and this decision was noteworthy for its relatively narrow interpretation of "disposition."

UTILITY ASSET DISPOSITION DECISIONS

The UAD Decision⁶⁶

After *Stores Block*, the Commission initiated the UAD proceeding in order to develop a comprehensive understanding of the potential implications of *Stores Block* and then apply that understanding in a consistent manner in future decisions.⁶⁷ Although the proceeding was initiated in 2008, it was suspended until October 17, 2012, to allow the hearing of the appeals described above.

In the first part of the UAD Decision, the Commission summarized the *Stores Block* decision, as well as relevant decisions considering *Stores Block* from the Commission, Alberta Court of Appeal and other jurisdictions in Canada.⁶⁸ It then provided a list of 19 principles based on these decisions.⁶⁹

In the second part of the UAD Decision, the Commission made several findings based on the issues in the proceeding issues list and the evidence provided in response by the Alberta Utilities and other interested parties, including those representing customers.⁷⁰ They can be summarized as follows:

- The utility asset ownership principles in *Stores Block*⁷¹ considered in the context of the disposition of gas utility assets under section 26 of the *GUA* apply equally to the disposition of electric utility assets outside of the ordinary course of business under subsection 101(2) of the *Public Utilities* Act.⁷²
- The utility asset ownership principles set out in *Stores Block* apply to the disposition of all utility assets, regardless of whether the property is disposed of inside or outside the ordinary course of business.⁷³ The Commission stated that to hold otherwise would mean that customers must have acquired some sort of property interest in assets disposed of in the ordinary course of business.⁷⁴

⁶⁶ UAD Decision, *supra* note 13.

⁶⁷ *Utility Asset Disposition*, Application No. 1566373, Proceeding No. 20, Notice of Proceeding (2 April 2008), online: AUC < http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2008/1566373.pdf>.

⁶⁸ UAD Decision, *supra* note 13, s 2.2-2.7.

⁶⁹ *Ibid* at para 102.

⁷⁰ UAD Decision, *supra* note 13, s 4. The "Alberta Utilities" are defined in paragraph 8 of the UAD Decision as: ATCO Electric Ltd., AltaLink Management Ltd., ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd., ATCO Gas, AltaGas Utilities Inc., ENMAX Power Corporation, EPCOR Utilities Inc. and FortisAlberta Inc.

⁷¹ I.e., that utility assets are the property of the utility company and its shareholders and that customers of utility companies do not purchase a property interest in those assets when they purchase utility services: *Stores Block*, *supra* note 1 at para 68 (cited in the UAD Decision, *supra* note 13 at para 269).

⁷² UAD Decision, *supra* note 13 at para 264.

⁷³ *Ibid* at paras 263, 271; The Commission also reasoned that given the Commission's jurisdiction is to set just and reasonable rates for utility assets, regardless if they are outside of the ordinary course of business, it would be inconsistent with this jurisdiction to find that the utility asset ownership principles were limited to assets disposed of outside of the ordinary course of business (*Ibid* at para 268).

⁷⁴ *Ibid* at para 271.

- Assets that are not "used or required to be used" for utility service may not be included in rate base. This applies to both gas⁷⁵ and electric utility assets.⁷⁶
- The current depreciation methodology used in Alberta, which calculates depreciation using mass property accounts, effectively retires assets from rate base in the ordinary course of business when they are no longer used or required to be used for utility service. This methodology appears to have been informed by the same principles in *Stores Block* and Alberta Court of Appeal cases.⁷⁷
- The amortization of reserve differences ("**AORD**") methodology used by utilities in Alberta (pursuant to which customers are charged/refunded, on a prospective basis, for depreciation rate adjustments that result from an over- or under-recovery of depreciation expense in prior years) is consistent with the *Stores Block* and Alberta Court of Appeal principles. This is because the AORD methodology ensures "that customers pay no more or no less, and the utilities recover no more or no less, than the cost of assets used to provide utility service over the period of time in which the assets provided utility service".⁷⁸
- Responsibility for stranded asset risk, namely the risk of not being able to recover the remaining value of assets that cease to be used or required for use in utility service, and therefore must be removed from rate base, depends on whether the retirement of existing assets is "ordinary" or "extraordinary." Under-recovery or over-recovery of capital investment on "ordinary retirements" are for the account of customers under the AORD methodology. Under-recovery or over-recovery of capital investment on "extraordinary retirements" (as is the case with assets disposed of outside of the ordinary course of business or moved to a non-utility account) are for the account of the utility.⁷⁹
- The retirement provisions in the 1963 Uniform Classification of Accounts for Gas Utilities Regulation ("UCAGU Regulation") and the Commission's Uniform System of Accounts for electric utilities⁸⁰ are consistent with the principles from Stores Block and the Alberta Court of Appeal, as are the definitions of "ordinary retirement" and "extraordinary retirement" from the UCAGU Regulation:⁸¹

⁷⁵ *Ibid* at para 274.

⁷⁶ The utilities argued that the *Electric Utilities Act* SA2003, c E-5.1 (*the "EUA"*) requires recovery of prudently incurred costs for assets such that these assets are to remain in rate base until they have been fully paid for by customers, regardless if the asset is used or required to be used. The Commission held that this position was in conflict with the property ownership principles in *Stores Block* and that while the terms "rate base" and "used or required to be used to provide utility service" are not employed in the *EUA*, the same concepts apply since the *EUA* defines an electric utility as a transmission or electric distribution system that is "used" to provide utility service or "necessary" to provide the service (UAD Decision, *supra* note 13 at para 281, 282, 283).

⁷⁷ UAD Decision, *supra* note 13 at para 296.

⁷⁸ *Ibid* at para 299.

⁷⁹ *Ibid* at para 304.

⁸⁰ Implementation of the Uniform System of Accounts and Minimum Filing Requirements for Alberta's Electric Transmission and Distribution Utilities (6 March 2007), 2007-017, online: EUB <

http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2007/2007-017.pdf>.

⁸¹ Uniform Classification of Accounts for Gas Utilities Regulation, Alta Reg 546/1963 [UCAGU]; UAD Decision, supra note 13 at para 334.

- "Ordinary retirements result from causes reasonably assumed to have been contemplated in prior depreciation provisions, and normally may be expected to occur when the plant reaches the end of its expected life."⁸²
- "Extraordinary retirements result from causes not reasonably assumed to have been anticipated or contemplated in prior depreciation or amortization provisions."⁸³
- Extraordinary retirements include "obsolete property, property to be abandoned, overdeveloped property and more facilities than necessary for future needs, property used for non-utility purposes, property that should be removed because of circumstances including unusual casualties (fire, storm, flood, etc.), sudden and complete obsolescence or un-expected and permanent shutdown of an entire operating assembly or plant".⁸⁴
- Utility assets "used or required to be used" are those used in an "operational sense," meaning assets "that are presently used, reasonably used or likely to be used in the future to provide utility services".⁸⁵
- Surplus land⁸⁶ and depreciable assets which should be treated as extraordinary retirements must be removed from rate base because they are no longer used or required to be used for utility service.⁸⁷

In summary, the Commission held that the utility asset ownership principles of *Stores Block* applied not only to the disposition of gas utility assets outside the ordinary course of business (which were the facts considered in *Stores Block*) but also to all electric utility assets disposed of outside of the ordinary course of business and all electric and gas utility assets disposed of or retired in the ordinary course of business. The principal conclusion of the Commission is summarized in paragraph 333 of the UAD Decision:

The courts have now clarified the matter, stating that all proceeds and losses on all utility assets are for the account of the shareholders, as the sole owners of the utility assets. As property owner, the utility can expect compensation from customers in respect of its asset only for so long as those assets are used (as determined on a reasonable basis) to provide service to customers. Whatever the perspective, the property law principles of ownership must be applied symmetrically to all utility assets.⁸⁸

In effect, for gas and electric utilities in Alberta, the Commission held that stranded assets, being assets that are not fully depreciated but are no longer capable of being used, must be removed from rate base, and that extraordinary retirements of such assets, are to the account of utilities, not to the account of customers. This represented a tectonic shift in the regulatory landscape and took the Commission out of the mainstream of utility regulation in Canada. For the reasons addressed subsequently, the UAD Decision arguably significantly stretched and distorted the principle holding in *Stores Block* in a manner that had consequences that were likely not anticipated at the time *Stores Block* was decided.

⁸² UAD Decision, *supra* note 13 at para 304; *UCAGU, supra* note 81, s 8.

⁸³ UCAGU, supra note 81, s 8.

⁸⁴ UAD Decision, *supra* note 13 at para 327.

⁸⁵ *Ibid* at para 326.

⁸⁶ As defined in *Harvest Hills, supra* note 52 at para 14.

⁸⁷ UAD Decision, *supra* note 13 at para 327.

⁸⁸ *Ibid* at para 333.

The UAD Appeal⁸⁹

Not surprisingly, the Alberta gas and electric utilities appealed the UAD Decision. The gas and electric utilities advanced slightly different arguments based on differences in the gas and electric utility legislation.⁹⁰ However, both the gas and electric utilities' arguments shared the same foundational premise – that under their applicable legislative scheme, once costs had been deemed prudent, utilities were assured of an opportunity to recover those costs. The Court of Appeal rejected this argument, finding that the Commission's decision, which it called a "generic policy decision,"⁹¹ was reasonable.

On this basis, applying the reasonableness standard of review, the Court of Appeal rejected the appeals, finding that that *Stores Block* should not and could not be confined to its facts:

[74] It might have been possible at one time to confine the scope of *Stores Block* so as to be less intrusive on the Regulator's discretion, perhaps by restricting its application only to approval of asset sales under s 26 and not to the ratemaking function. However, the law as it has developed in Alberta since 2006 has not done that. Rather than approaching *Stores Block* in a restrictive manner, this Court has applied the principles set out in that case more broadly.

[75] It has also been suggested that the approach in *Stores Block* should be confined to non-depreciable assets only. In my view, the decision does not support this interpretation. The distinction between depreciable and non-depreciable assets was never made in *Stores Block*, where the asset being disposed of consisted of both land and buildings. Indeed, at para 69 of his decision Bastarache J speaks of utilities absorbing "losses and gains, increases and decreases in the value of assets" based on economic conditions and "occasional unexpected technical difficulties". It is difficult to reconcile this language with the idea that the court was referring only to non-depreciable assets, which would rarely be sold at a loss and would not often be subject to "unexpected technical difficulties". Such an interpretation could lead to a lopsided and arguably unreasonable result; utilities would be entitled to the benefit of a gain from a sale of non-depreciable assets, but would not be exposed to a loss on depreciable property. Ratepayers on the other hand would likely only be exposed to losses.

The Court of Appeal held that the Commission's approach, in light of *Stores Block*, was reasonable and in line with its core ratemaking function.⁹² The Court also concluded that the Commission's approach to the return of capital investment through the management of depreciation accounts and the distinction it made between ordinary and extraordinary retirements in that respect was reasonable.⁹³

The Court noted that the Commission was careful to not fetter its discretion to deal with future cases, in that the Commission recognized its ability to adjust for depreciation and amortization expenses of assets removed from service for unanticipated causes through its AORD process, retaining the flexibility to fulfill

⁸⁹ FortisAlberta Inc. v Alberta (Utilities Commission), 2015 ABCA 295, [2015] AWLD 3753 [UAD Appeal].

⁹⁰ *Ibid* at paras 115, 116.

⁹¹ *Ibid* at para 96.

⁹² *Ibid* at paras 147, 164, 165.

⁹³ *Ibid* at paras 147, 164, 165.

its mandate on a case by case basis.⁹⁴ As discussed below, in application, the Commission's approach was not particularly flexible, and resulted in troublesome outcomes.

In concluding its decision on the UAD appeals, the Paperny J.A., noted:

[171] The legislature has entrusted the Commission with a policy-laden role, which includes a strong public interest mandate: see, for example, ss 16(1) and 17(1) of the *Alberta Utilities Commission Act*. Its mandate includes the creation of a balanced and predictable application of principles to the relationship between revenues, expenses and assets (both depreciable and non-depreciable) of utilities on the one hand, and the reasonable expectations of the ratepayers who receive and pay for services on the other. The treatment of stranded assets is, at its foundation, a policy issue informed by public interest considerations. The Commission's policy choice, as expressed in the UAD decision, is a legitimate and defensible one, and well within its legislated power.

Leave to appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada was denied.95

We disagree with the Court of Appeal's reasoning. Our view is that the UAD Decision is an unreasonable extension of the principles set out in *Stores Block*. Notably, as discussed below, the interpretation of *Stores Block* as requiring utilities to bear stranded asset risk has not been adopted elsewhere in Canada. It is tempting to wonder what the outcome would have been had the Court of Appeal applied the correctness standard of review or if the Supreme Court of Canada had applied the reasonableness standard in *Stores Block*. It is difficult to identify any relevant distinguishing characteristics between the two appeals that would justify different standards of review. Both dealt with the interpretation of provisions of the Commission's home statutes related to its core ratemaking function. However, *Stores Block* was decided before *Dunsmuir*, while the UAD Decision appeal was decided after *Dunsmuir*, resulting in the application of different standards of review in each decision.⁹⁶

The Court of Appeal's approach to the issue may also have been coloured by its elevation of Commission decisions to the level of policy, with all of the baggage that accompanies that term, including the principle that true policy decisions made by governmental bodies are immune from challenge.⁹⁷

Finally, it is noteworthy that the Court of Appeal itself appears to have been troubled by the conclusion to which the applicable standard of review and the interpretation of the jurisprudence had led it. As Paperny J.A. wrote:

[160] Absent the pronouncements in Stores Block, the Commission would likely have greater flexibility on the issue of who bears the undepreciated cost of assets rendered useless as the result of extraordinary events. There would have been a number of potential policy choices to achieve a just result...

[161] But Stores Block has been interpreted in Alberta as preventing such distribution. In the absence of Stores Block and the subsequent jurisprudence from

⁹⁴ *Ibid* at para 168.

⁹⁵ Altalink Management Ltd v Alberta Utilities Commission, et al., 2016 Carswell Alta 720 (WL Can) (SCC).

⁹⁶ As most readers will know, the evolution of standards of review has received its own comprehensive treatment in the literature. A discussion of such evolution is well beyond the scope of this paper.

⁹⁷ UAD Appeal, *supra* note 89 at paras 171, 172, cited in *Gitxaala Nation v Canada*, 2016 FCA 187 at para 150, 269 ACWS (3d) 85 and *Re: Sound v Canadian Association of Broadcasters*, 2017 FCA 138 at para 49, 282 ACWS (3d) 599.

this Court, other policy choices would have been open to the regulator. Although it would be tempting to confine the application of these decisions only to gas utilities, (to minimize what I consider to be deleterious effects on the regulation of utilities in Alberta), the legal principles in Stores Block remain good law. As such, the distinction the electric utilities wish to make is far less compelling. The Commission's decision, having regard to its legislation and the law of this province as set down by the Supreme Court and this Court, is reasonable.

While Paperny J.A. felt compelled to uphold the Commission's UAD Decision, it is apparent she was also uneasy with its 'deleterious effects' in relation to the future ability of the Commission to achieve a 'just result' in relation to the allocation of stranded asset risks, suggesting (perhaps with some degree of prophecy, in light of recent developments that are discussed further, below) the need for a legislative solution to the problem:

[76] The Commission, and this Court, are bound by Stores Block and the subsequent decisions from this Court. Only legislative amendment, reconsideration, or a reversal of Stores Block by the Supreme Court of Canada can change that.

POST-UAD COMMISSION DECISIONS

Since the UAD Decision and Appeal, the issue of stranded assets has been considered in several Commission decisions. The most noteworthy, in terms of understanding the Commission's approach to these assets, are the *Slave Lake Fires Decision*,⁹⁸ the *Southern Alberta Floods Decision*,⁹⁹ and the decisions regarding EPCOR Distribution and Transmission Inc.'s ("EPCOR") Advanced Meter Infrastructure ("AMI") project.

Slave Lake Fires Decision

In 2011, wildfires swept across the Slave Lake region, damaging and destroying electric distribution assets of ATCO Electric Ltd. ("**ATCO Electric**"). Assets with a remaining undepreciated cost of approximately \$400,000 were destroyed. ATCO Electric sought to recover this undepreciated capital cost, as well as removal and replacement costs. Historically, such costs would have been recovered through ATCO Electric's Reserve for Injuries and Damages ("**RID**") account. This would have kept the cost of the destroyed assets in ATCO Electric's rates until the remaining depreciation expense was recovered. The RID account was approved by the Commission in Decision 2007-010 as a replacement for third party transmission and distribution line insurance, which was determined to be uneconomical.¹⁰⁰

ATCO Electric argued that the destruction of assets by fire was not an "extraordinary retirement." In the alternative, ATCO Electric argued that it was entitled to recover all of its prudently incurred costs under

⁹⁸ ATCO Electric Ltd - 2012 Distribution Deferral Accounts and Annual Filing for Adjustment Balances (8 January 2015), 2014-297, online: AUC < http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2014/2014-297_Errata.pdf > [**Slave Lake Fires Decision**]. This decision was released after the UAD Decision (*supra* note 13), but prior to the Court of Appeal's decision in the UAD Appeal (*supra* note 89).

⁹⁹ ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd – Z Factor Application for Recovery of 2013 Southern Alberta Flood Costs (16 March 2016), 2738-D01-2016, online: AUC < http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2016/2738-D01-2016.pdf> [Southern Alberta Floods Decision].

¹⁰⁰ ATCO Electric Ltd – 2007-2008 General Tariff Application – Phase I (22 September 2007), 2007-071, online: EUB < http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2007/2007-071.pdf > [Decision 2007-071].

the express terms of the *Electric Utilities Act* (the "*EUA*").¹⁰¹ The Commission disposed of this alternative argument with reference to the principles set out in the UAD Decision.

In considering whether destruction by fire constituted an "extraordinary retirement," the Commission reiterated its finding from the UAD Decision that the mass accounts depreciation method complied with the principles in *Stores Block*. It rejected ATCO Electric's suggestion that in the UAD Decision, the Commission had endorsed a practice of recovering the costs of all retired assets through depreciation, regardless of the retirement. The Commission explained the depreciation methodology is only consistent with the principles in *Stores Block* for "ordinary retirements" not "extraordinary retirements":

The UAD decision recognized the concepts underlying the currently-used depreciation methods as being consistent with the *Stores Block* principles because they are intended to recover the costs of assets used in utility service over their service lives in ordinary circumstances, recognizing that retirements outside of the relevant scope of considered retirement events, regardless of the effect on depreciation parameters, would be classified as extraordinary retirements and, in accordance with the *Stores Block* principles, would be for the shareholder's account.¹⁰²

The Commission then clarified its test for determining when a retirement was extraordinary at paragraph 66 of the decision:

In the Commission's view it is the characteristics of the event that are relevant to the determination of whether the event had been contemplated or anticipated by a prior depreciation study. *If the characteristics of the Slave Lake fires event are sufficiently different to distinguish the Slave Lake fires from the events considered in the previous depreciation study such that the characteristics of the Slave Lake fires cannot be said to have been reasonably contemplated or anticipated in the determination of the depreciation parameters in that study, then the Commission would consider the event to give rise to an extraordinary retirement and the \$400,000 notional net book value of the destroyed assets would be for the account of the shareholders.¹⁰³ [Emphasis added.]*

The Commission reviewed the history of fires and natural disasters of the prior ten years that had been included in ATCO Electric's latest depreciation study. Based on this review it held that the characteristics of the Slave Lake fires that destroyed ATCO Electric's assets were sufficiently different from the characteristics of these past events, as well as the type of events that the Commission considered when it approved ATCO Electric's RID account, to give rise to an extraordinary retirement.¹⁰⁴ The Commission provided no further reasoning for why the Slave Lake fires were characteristically different, but it appears the fact that the replacement costs for the Slave Lake fires (\$23.2 million) were significantly higher than prior fire-related losses carried significant weight in its decision.¹⁰⁵ ATCO Electric was required to remove

¹⁰¹ Electric Utilities Act, SA 2003, c E-5.1 [EUA].

¹⁰² Slave Lake Fires Decision, *supra* note 98 at para 66.

¹⁰³ *Ibid* at para 66.

¹⁰⁴ *Ibid* at para 69.

¹⁰⁵ In Decision 2007-071 (*supra* note 100) the Commission determined that ATCO Electric no longer had to purchase transmission and distribution line insurance, as claims would be recovered through the RID account. This decision was made on the basis of evidence showing that customers would have saved \$924,000 a year based on the cost of premiums and an average annual claim of \$922,000 over a period of eight years, and on the testimony of ATCO Electric witnesses that the largest claim experienced was a 1998 fire claim for \$3.8 million (Slave Lake Fires Decision, *supra* note 98 at paras 76, 77). For the Slave Lake Fires Decision, the Commission calculated the average value of claims from 2002 to 2012, excluding the Slave Lake Fires, and

the destroyed assets from rate base, and it was not permitted to recover the remaining undepreciated capital cost (or the return it would have earned on the assets).

ATCO Electric subsequently sought approval to reinstitute third party line insurance.¹⁰⁶ The Commission denied ATCO Electric's request, finding that one of the consequences of the principles from *Stores Block* is that utility customers do not, and cannot, possess an insurable interest in utility assets – it would be contrary to the symmetric application of the common law principles in *Stores Block*.¹⁰⁷ This decision is troubling. In our view, the proper question is not whether ratepayers have an insurable interest in utility assets. The proper question is whether insurance premiums are a reasonable and prudent cost of providing utility service. The problem with, and inconsistency in, the Commission's reasoning is highlighted if one considers, as an example, utility vehicles. By the Commission's logic, because ratepayers do not have an insurable interest in a utility's vehicles, the cost of insuring a utility's fleet of vehicles (utility assets) should not be a recoverable cost. However, no one challenges that such costs are reasonable and prudently incurred for utility operations; the cost of insuring a utility's fleet is routinely approved for inclusion in the utility's revenue requirement. There is no principled reason that line insurance should be treated any differently.

Southern Alberta Floods Decision

In 2013, southern Alberta experienced extensive flooding. ATCO Gas applied to the Commission to recover costs associated with damage caused by the flooding. The Commission allowed the application in part.¹⁰⁸ Notably, unlike the Slave Lake Fires Decision, the Commission concluded that the retirement of assets that had been destroyed by the flooding was *not* an extraordinary retirement.

In reaching this conclusion, the Commission found that ATCO Gas had included events of a similar nature in its past depreciation studies (a flood in 2005 and a tornado in 1987) and concluded that the 2013 floods had therefore been contemplated or anticipated by ATCO Gas' prior depreciation study.¹⁰⁹ The Commission was also persuaded by the evidence of ATCO Gas' expert who had prepared its most recent depreciation study in 2009, and opined that if the 2013 flood had been included in the study in 2009, it would have had an almost indistinguishable effect on the depreciation curves.¹¹⁰

In the decision, the Commission explained why the destruction of assets by the Slave Lake fire was an extraordinary retirement but the destruction of assets by flooding in 2013 was not:

In the Slave Lake decision, the Commission reviewed the history of losses experienced by ATCO Electric over a 10-year period and determined that the nature of these past losses, which generally involved costs in the range of \$1 million to \$2 million, were sufficiently different from the Slave Lake region fire which required replacement costs of assets of \$23.7 million. In this proceeding,

found it to be approximately \$800,000. The Commission concluded that the replacement costs of the assets destroyed in the Slave Lake Fires Decision were significantly higher than the prior losses that were recovered by the company through the RID account (Slave Lake Fires Decision, *supra* note 98 at para 77). The Commission does not explicitly state that this was the reason for finding that the destroyed fire assets were an extraordinary retirement, however, they appear to confirm this was the reason when distinguishing the Slave Lakes Fire Decision in the Southern Alberta Floods Decision (*supra* note 99 at para 93), which is considered below.

¹⁰⁶ ATCO Electric Ltd – 2015-2017 Transmission General Tariff Application (22 August 2016), 20272-D01-2016, online: AUC < http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2016/20272-D01-2016.pdf>.

¹⁰⁷ *Ibid* at para 1261.

¹⁰⁸ Southern Alberta Floods Decision, *supra* note 99 at para 1.

¹⁰⁹ *Ibid* at para 93.

¹¹⁰ *Ibid* at paras 80, 91.

the Commission finds that the characteristics of the 2013 flood event are of a similar nature to the 2005 flood event that was incorporated in the 2009 depreciation study. Relying on this finding of fact, the Commission concludes that the 2013 flood does not give rise to an extraordinary retirement of the destroyed assets and therefore the undepreciated net book value of \$496,747 will continue to be recovered from ratepayers.¹¹¹

The Commission concluded the *Southern Alberta Floods Decision* by addressing an argument of the Utilities Consumer Advocate (the "UCA") that ATCO Gas could not insist that the flood was an "unforeseen" event for the purposes of recovering clean-up costs and costs associated with damaged facilities, while at the same time arguing that the destruction of facilities was an "ordinary retirement".¹¹² The Commission explained that there was no inconsistency:

A depreciation study is developed to predict retirements of a group of assets over their life on the basis of past retirement events. That past events have been incorporated into depreciation studies does not negate the impact of the actual event on the operations of the company. While a storm may not be an unusual event, the impact of a particular event could very well be unforeseen and if that impact is sufficiently material, a Z factor may be warranted.¹¹³

AMI Meter Decisions

Decision 3100-D01-2015

Advanced meters are "smart meters" that transmit power usage data from a power meter remotely to a utility, removing the need for a meter reader to visit a home or business. They are typically also able to handle bi-directional flows and to record when electricity was used. This allows the utility to apply rates that are higher during periods of high demand and lower during periods of low demand. Bi-directional meters allow customers with on-site generation (such as solar panels) to receive a credit for excess generation that is injected onto the distribution system.

EPCOR proposed an AMI project where it would install new smart meters across its distribution system. This would require EPCOR to replace approximately 365,000 existing meters, the ages of which varied from almost fully depreciated to new. The Commission determined that the replacement of the existing meters would be an "extraordinary retirement," and that EPCOR would not be able to recover the remaining undepreciated capital cost of the replaced meters, which was estimated to be between \$10 and \$12 million.¹¹⁴ In reaching this conclusion, the Commission relied on the reference to a "sudden and complete obsolescence" from the definition of an "extraordinary retirement" in paragraph 327 of the UAD Decision.¹¹⁵

 $http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2015/3100-D01-2015.pdf>\ at\ para\ 705.pdf>$

¹¹⁵ *Ibid* at para 705, s 11.2.

¹¹¹ *Ibid* at para 93.

¹¹² *Ibid* at para 87. The tariff mechanism under which ATCO Gas claimed recovery was referred to as a Z factor. Eligible costs had to be material, caused by an event outside management's control, and prudently incurred.

¹¹³ Ibid at para 94.

¹¹⁴ EPCOR Distribution & Transmission Inc – 2013 PBR Capital Tracker True-up and 2014-2015 PBR Capital Tracker Forecast (25 January 2015), 3100-D01-2015, online: AUC <

EPCOR argued that it did not consider the existing meters to be obsolete because they still operated and remained capable of operating into the foreseeable future to provide safe and reliable utility service.¹¹⁶ The utility also argued that the primary reason to replace the existing meters was to reduce the overall costs to customers. Moreover, to conclude that the retirement of these assets is extraordinary, would create a positive incentive for the utility to actively avoid these types of projects.¹¹⁷

In finding that the retirement of the existing meters was extraordinary, the Commission relied again on the fundamental corporate and property law principles expressed in *Stores Block* and the test for an "extraordinary retirement" outlined in paragraph 66 of the *Slave Lake Fires Decision*.¹¹⁸ The Commission found that the existing meters would no longer be used or required for use in utility service and that it was not reasonable to conclude that the retirement was anticipated or contemplated in a prior depreciation study.¹¹⁹ In reaching the latter conclusion, the Commission relied on the fact that EPCOR's depreciation study only accounted for the retirement of these assets in 20 years, not the three year period that EPCOR was proposing. The Commission did not directly address EPCOR's argument that a finding of "extraordinary retirement" creates a disincentive for EPCOR to pursue such projects.

Decision 20407-D01-2016

EPCOR decided to proceed with the AMI program notwithstanding the Commission's determination that it would result in the extraordinary retirement of the existing meters. EPCOR was subject to a five-year performance-based regulation ("**PBR**") term at the time.¹²⁰ The Commission rejected EPCOR's request to change its depreciation rates to accelerate the depreciation of the old meters.¹²¹ However, EPCOR was able to continue to depreciate the replaced meters until the end of the PBR term.¹²² It was also able to retain the cost savings associated with the new meters (reduced meter reading and associated labour costs, for example) until the end of the PBR term.¹²³

Decision 22394-D01-2018

In 2016, the Commission approved a new five-year PBR plan for Alberta gas and electric distribution utilities¹²⁴ starting January 1, 2018. The Commission directed utilities to file "rebasing" applications to

http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2016/20407-D01-2016.pdf> at para 615.

¹²² *Ibid* at para 617. This allowed EPCOR to recover \$2.54 million of a total of \$11.5 million of undepreciated capital costs: *Rebasing for the 2018-2022 PBR Plans for Alberta Electric and Gas Distribution Utilities – First Compliance Proceeding* (5 February 2018), 22394-D01-2018, online: AUC <

¹¹⁶ *Ibid* at para 664.

¹¹⁷ *Ibid* at para 670.

¹¹⁸ *Ibid* at paras 675-678.

¹¹⁹ *Ibid* at paras 682, 690.

¹²⁰ January 1, 2013 to December 31, 2017. See *Rate Regulation Initiative – Distribution Performance-Based Regulation* (12 September 2012), 2012-237, online: AUC < http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2012/2012-237.pdf>.

¹²¹ EPCOR Distribution & Transmission Inc – 2014 PBR Capital Tracker True-Up and 2016-2017 PBR Capital Tracker Forecast (7 February 2016), 20407-D01-2016, online: AUC <

http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2018/22394-D01-2018.pdf> at para 376 [D01-2018].

¹²³ It was originally expected that customers would receive the benefit of these costs savings when EPCOR's rates were rebased at the end of the PBR term. However, as a result of the rebasing mechanism the Commission approved, not all of the cost savings were passed on to customers (D01-2018, *supra* note 122 at paras 115-122).

¹²⁴ 2018-2022 Performance-Based Regulation Plans for Alberta Electric and Gas Distribution Utilities (6 February 2017), 20414-D01-2016, online: AUC < http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2016/20414-D01-2016%20(Errata).pdf>.

establish going-in rates for the new PBR plan. In its rebasing application, EPCOR applied to recover the remaining undepreciated capital costs associated with the meters that had been replaced with AMI meters through the recovery of the remaining depreciation expense either according to the existing depreciation study or an on accelerated basis.

EPCOR acknowledged that there were no new facts since the Commission had originally determined that the remaining undepreciated capital cost was for the account of EPCOR's shareholder. It did argue, however, that two recent Supreme Court of Canada decisions had provided the Commission with greater flexibility regarding the recovery of costs associated with stranded assets and that the Commission had greater discretion to depart from the principles set out in the UAD Decision.

The two decisions to which EPCOR referred are *Ontario (Energy Board) v Ontario Power Generation* ("*OPG*")¹²⁵ and *ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd v Alberta (Utilities Commission)* ("*ATCO Pension*").¹²⁶ Both are summarized below. EPCOR argued that according to *OPG*, the Commission could apply the "prudent investment test" to soften the potentially harsh effects of the "used and useful test."¹²⁷ EPCOR also referred to a passage from *ATCO Pension* where the Court indicated that a regulator has the discretion to apply a variety of tools and evidence in determining whether costs are prudent.¹²⁸

EPCOR argued that "the public interest would be best served in this case by allowing EPCOR to continue to recoup its prudent investment in the conventional meters from ratepayers, considering that the Commission's initial interpretation of the law would create a powerful disincentive to utilities to pursue innovative projects like AMI where to do so would risk stranding capital".¹²⁹

The Commission rejected EPCOR's argument, referring again to the corporate and property law principles from *Stores Block* and the emphasis in the UAD Appeal that fairness to customers requires that rate base can only include assets that are used or required to be used for utility service.¹³⁰ The Commission concluded that it did not have the discretion to depart from the principles set out in the UAD Decision.¹³¹

(i) OPG

In *OPG*, the Supreme Court considered a decision of the Ontario Energy Board ("**OEB**") that disallowed \$145 million in labour compensation costs related to the operations of Ontario Power Generation ("**Ontario Power**"), on the grounds that these costs were out of step with costs of other entities in the regulated power generation industry. The thrust of Ontario Power's argument was that the OEB was legally required to apply a no-hindsight prudent investment test such that Ontario Power could recover all of its prudently committed or incurred costs. The Ontario Court of Appeal agreed that such a test should be applied, because the costs were committed and were costs that by law, Ontario Power could not manage.¹³² However, the majority of the Supreme Court allowed the appeal, reinstating the OEB decision.

¹²⁵ Ontario (Energy Board) v Ontario Power Generation Inc, 2015 SCC 44, [2015] 3 SCR 147 [**OPG**].

¹²⁶ ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd v Alberta (Utilities Commission), 2015 SCC 45, [2015] 3 SCR 219 [ATCO Pension].

¹²⁷ OPG, supra note 125 at 91.

¹²⁸ ATCO Pension, supra note 126 at para 47.

¹²⁹ D01-2018, *supra* note 122 at para 380, FN 447 (Exhibit 22394-X0404, EPCOR argument, at para 110).

¹³⁰ D01-2018, *supra* note 122 at para 391.

¹³¹ *Ibid* at para 392.

¹³² OPG, supra note 125 at para 37.

The Supreme Court applied a reasonableness standard of review on the basis that the appeal turned on the interpretation of the OEB's home statute.¹³³ The Court noted that the legislation did not prescribe the methodology that the OEB must use to weigh utility and consumer interests in determining what costs are just and reasonable.¹³⁴ Instead, the legislation gave the OEB explicit discretion as to the methodology to determine just and reasonable rates.¹³⁵ (Notably, this explicit discretion is absent in the Alberta legislation.)

The Court completed a review of both US and Canadian jurisprudence and legislation. It found that a nohindsight prudent investment test was only mandatory when required by legislation. The Court concluded that the no-hindsight prudent investment test is widely used and is a valid tool that regulators *may use* when assessing whether costs are just and reasonable.¹³⁶ However, the Court found no support in the legislation of the OEB or the relevant jurisprudence that the OEB was required to use such a test, concluding as follows:

As discussed above, where a statute requires only that the regulator set "just and reasonable" payments, as the *Ontario Energy Board Act*, 1998 does in Ontario, the regulator may make use of a variety of analytical tools in assessing the justness and reasonableness of a utility's proposed payment amounts. This is particularly so where, as here, the regulator has been given express discretion over the methodology to be used in setting payment amounts: O. Reg. 53/05, s. 6(1).¹³⁷

On this basis the Supreme Court determined that the OEB's characterization of the \$145 million in compensation costs as a mix of forecast and committed costs, and its decision not to apply the no-hindsight prudent investment test when deciding to disallow OPG's costs, were reasonable.

(ii) ATCO Pension

ATCO Pension was heard together with OPG. It concerned the Commission's denial of the recovery of pension costs of ATCO Gas and ATCO Electric (the "ATCO Utilities"). At first instance, the Commission had found that the ATCO Utilities' practice of awarding an annual cost of living adjustment ("COLA") of 100% of the consumer price index ("CPI") was not reasonable in light of evidence that other entities set the COLA between 50 to 75% of CPI. The ATCO Utilities appealed the Commission's decision to the Court of Appeal, arguing that the use of the word "prudent" in the EUA and GUA necessitated the use of the no-hindsight prudent investment test. The Alberta Court of Appeal disagreed, dismissing the appeal.¹³⁸

While the facts of *OPG* were different, the Supreme Court in *ATCO Pension* noted that both cases involved the issue of whether a regulator is required to apply the no-hindsight prudent investment test in assessing a utility's costs.¹³⁹ As it did in *OPG*, the Supreme Court in *ATCO Pension* dismissed the ATCO Utilities' appeal on the basis that the relevant statutory framework did not impose a methodology on the Commission and the methodology used by the Commission, and its application, was reasonable in light of the nature of the costs in question.¹⁴⁰

¹³³ O Reg 53/05; *OPG*, *supra* note 125 at para 73. Contrast this with the correctness standard applied by the Court in *Stores Block*, *supra* note 1, which also turned on the interpretation of a regulator's home statute.

¹³⁴ OPG, supra note 125 at para 77.

¹³⁵ Ibid at para 78. The legislation in question was the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, SO 1998, c 15 Schedule B.

¹³⁶ *OPG*, *supra* note 125 at paras 102, 103.

¹³⁷ *Ibid* at para 103.

¹³⁸ 2013 ABCA 110.

¹³⁹ ATCO Pension, supra note 126 at para 2.

¹⁴⁰ *Ibid* at para 5.

The Supreme Court began with a review of the relevant legislation (the *EUA* for ATCO Electric and the *GUA* for ATCO Gas), noting that the Commission was required to set just and reasonable rates.¹⁴¹ The Supreme Court recognized that unlike the *Ontario Energy Board Act* ("*OEBA*") in *OPG*, the *EUA* and *GUA* do not include a direct grant of methodological discretion with respect to setting just and reasonable rates. However, like the *OEBA*, neither of the Alberta statutes impose a specific methodology, notwithstanding the use of the word "prudent" in the relevant statutes.¹⁴²

The Supreme Court made a distinction between "prudent" costs and "prudently incurred costs." Prudent costs must be reasonable for recovery by the utility at the time they are recovered.¹⁴³ Prudently incurred costs, on the other hand, "speak more directly to a utility's decision to incur costs at the time the decision was made" and "may more directly implicate the no-hindsight approach urged by the ATCO Utilities in this case, than language that merely speaks of "prudent costs".¹⁴⁴ It is fair to say that this distinction can be regarded as a marked departure from the generally understood principles of the regulatory compact, and the principle that it is fundamentally unfair to decide whether a decision was prudent based on facts or considerations that the utility did not know and could not reasonably have known at the time it made the decision (or incurred a particular cost).

THE AUC APPEARS UNLIKELY TO CHANGE ITS POSITION

Recently, in Decision 22394-D01-2018, the Commission concluded that it has no discretion to grant relief from the principles set out in the UAD Decision. The Commission stated:

While the Commission acknowledges that its decision has the potential to have a negative effect on the PBR incentives to innovate and pursue reductions in costs, the Commission has not been persuaded by EPCOR's arguments that such discretion exists in the present statutory context as interpreted by the courts and in light of the application of the corporate and property law principles applied by the courts. In this regard, the Commission notes that the court in the *Fortis* decision, at paragraph 76, stated the following:

76. The Commission, and this Court, are bound by *Stores Block* and the subsequent decisions from this Court. Only legislative amendment, reconsideration, or a reversal of *Stores Block* by the Supreme Court of Canada can change that.¹⁴⁵

The Commission has been a staunch proponent of the benefits of incentive regulation (such as PBR) over traditional cost of service regulation since it approved its first incentive framework almost a decade ago.¹⁴⁶ In considering PBR plan proposals, the Commission has focused heavily on maximizing desirable incentives. The acknowledgement in Decision 22394-D01-2018 that its UAD principles have a potential negative effect on PBR incentives must have been a difficult one for the Commission to make, and it is

¹⁴¹ *Ibid* at para 29.

¹⁴² *Ibid* at para 32.

¹⁴³ *Ibid* at para 38.

¹⁴⁴ *Ibid* at para 39.

¹⁴⁵ D01-2018, *supra* note 122 at para 392.

¹⁴⁶ ENMAX Power Corporation – 2007-2016 Formula Based Ratemaking (25 March 2009), 2009-035, online: AUC < http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2009/2009-035.pdf>.

tempting to infer that the Commission regarded the denial of the AMI-related relief requested by EPCOR as an undesirable precedent, but that it felt unable to do otherwise.

In drawing the conclusion that it had no discretion to depart from the principles set out in the UAD Decision, the Commission arguably adopted too narrow a view of its own authority and jurisdiction. After reviewing the Commission's UAD Decision, the Court of Appeal concluded that the treatment of stranded assets is, at its foundation, a policy issue, and that the Commission's policy choice was a legitimate and defensible one.¹⁴⁷ The Court of Appeal applied the reasonableness standard of review rather than the correctness standard. Thus, the Court of Appeal's decision means that the Commission's findings and principles in the UAD Decision fell within a reasonable range of outcomes, not that they were the only correct outcome. Indeed, this is clearly illustrated by the Court's statement that the Commission's principles were a policy *choice*. Furthermore, *OPG* and *ATCO Pension* stand for the proposition that where (as is the case with the UAD principles) the governing statutes do not prescribe a methodology or test, the Commission has very broad authority and jurisdiction to use a wide variety of methodologies and tools, subject to the Commission's overarching public interest mandate.

Even if we assume that it was reasonable for the Commission to interpret *Stores Block* as extending to the recovery of costs associated with stranded assets, that does not mean that every policy choice the Commission made in the UAD Decision is immutable. For example, the "extraordinary retirement" test for stranded asset cost recovery was created by the Commission. There is nothing in *Stores Block* that speaks to extraordinary or ordinary retirements (or stranded assets, for that matter). The Commission was likely attracted to the apparent similarity between the statutory references to dispositions outside the ordinary course of business (which was considered in *Stores Block*) and the accounting/depreciation concept of extraordinary retirements. However, as discussed below, the extraordinary retirement test has serious flaws. The creation of the extraordinary retirement test was one of the "policy choices" the Commission made in the UAD Decision. The simple fact that the Court of Appeal held that the Commission's policy choices were reasonable does not mean that those choices are permanent, particularly if there is evidence that in practice some of the choices lead to unreasonable and unfair outcomes and are not in the public interest. Nevertheless, the Commission has clearly signaled that it is not going to change its approach in the absence of legislative amendments.

IN ITS INTERPRETATION OF STORES BLOCK THE AUC STANDS ALONE

The Supreme Court of Canada is, of course, the highest court in Canada, and its decisions apply across the country. Yet the Commission is the only Canadian utility regulator to have interpreted *Stores Block* as requiring utilities to bear the financial risk of stranded assets. In the recent Commission proceeding to determine utility cost of capital for 2018-2020,¹⁴⁸ one of the cost of capital experts stated:

The [UAD] Decision is one of the most impactful decisions in North American utility regulation of the last decade and its treatment of stranded costs runs counter to one of the basic tenets of utility regulation – to grant cost recovery of and a return on prudent utility investment. What was once relatively assured in Alberta (that utility investors would have a reasonable opportunity to recover their costs, including a fair return on those costs), is now dependent on the circumstances of whether the asset remains "used and useful" for its depreciable life – an unknown

¹⁴⁷ UAD Appeal, *supra* note 89 at para 171.

¹⁴⁸ 2018 Generic Cost of Capital Proceeding, Proceeding No. 22570 online: AUC < http://www.auc.ab.ca/pages/generic-cost-of-capital.aspx>.

at the time when the investment was made and generally outside of the investor's control. $^{\rm 149}$

The same expert also stated:

I know of no other regulatory body in Canada or the United States that has taken a similar approach to that taken by the Commission with respect to the Stores Block Decision, and in particular, the extent to which the Commission has disallowed cost recovery for assets that have been deemed by the regulatory as prudent and useful for utility service, were placed into service, but were later stranded before the end of their useful life.¹⁵⁰

So why does the Commission's UAD Decision stand alone? We are not aware of any other Canadian utility regulator that initiated a proceeding to specifically consider the implications of *Stores Block*, so we are largely left to speculate. However, it is clear, in our view, that the difference in regulatory treatment cannot be justified solely by differences in provincial legislation.

Stores Block was not about stranded assets. *Stores Block* considered and interpreted a statutory provision that required regulatory approval for the disposition of utility assets outside the ordinary course of business, but did not provide any further guidance to the regulator. It appears that other Canadian regulators have interpreted *Stores Block* narrowly, confining it to dispositions of utility assets outside the ordinary course of business; that is, to circumstances where a utility voluntarily sought to transfer ownership of utility assets to a third party.

A significant difference between the utility landscape in Alberta and other provinces may also have contributed to the different interpretation of *Stores Block* in other provinces. Alberta has a relatively high concentration of investor-owned gas and electric utilities. There is no equivalent to BC Hydro, Hydro Québec or Manitoba Hydro in Alberta. In provinces with large Crown Corporation utilities, neither the government nor the regulator may have had any appetite to interpret *Stores Block* as shifting the risk of stranded assets to the utility since that would require the provincial government to absorb any losses associated with stranded assets. That does not explain Ontario, though. Regulated by the OEB, Hydro One is Canada's largest electricity transmission and distribution utility. Its service territory covers approximately 75 percent of Ontario, and it is a publicly-traded corporation.¹⁵¹ The OEB is no shrinking violet, and it has demonstrated that it is prepared to make significant cost disallowances regardless of utility ownership, as *OPG* demonstrates.¹⁵²

The Commission's approach may have been influenced by the extraordinary amount of litigation regarding the treatment of utility assets that prompted and, more notably, followed *Stores Block*. It may be that the Commission was looking for a way to provide some certainty and pre-empt future appeals. If certainty was the Commission's goal, it was, arguably, not successful.

¹⁴⁹ Ibid, Exhibit 22570-X0131 (Evidence of James Coyne, Concentric Energy Advisors Inc. at 84, lines 7-15).

¹⁵⁰ *Ibid*, Exhibit 22570-X775 (Rebuttal Evidence of James Coyne at 57).

¹⁵¹ Hydro One, "Service Territory", online: < https://www.hydroone.com/about/>.

¹⁵² OPG is wholly owned by the Province of Ontario: see Ontario Power Generation, "About OPG – Ontario's Clean Energy Provider", online: https://www.opg.com/about/Pages/about.aspx>.

STRANDED ASSET RISK - WHERE DO WE STAND TODAY AS A RESULT OF THE *STORES BLOCK* LINE OF CASES?

Broadly speaking, the Commission has two core functions. The first function is to approve utility rates. The second is to approve the construction and operation of transmission facilities. As is the case in most, if not all, North American jurisdictions, the relevant legislation in Alberta governing utility rates requires the Commission to provide utilities with a reasonable opportunity to recover the prudent costs and expenses of providing utility service and a fair return. In applications to construct and operate transmission facilities, the Commission must determine whether the proposed facilities are in the public interest. If the Commission concludes that they are, in the utility's subsequent rate applications, the Commission assesses whether the actual capital expenditures related to the facilities were prudent. The amount that the Commission determines is prudent is added to the utility's rate base. Before the UAD Decision, the expectation (based on many decades of experience) was that once a capital expenditure was included in rate base, recovery was assured, even if the underlying asset was prematurely removed from service.

Alberta utilities have a statutory obligation to provide service, and this requires them to construct and replace facilities. The cost of these facilities is recovered through depreciation expense over very long periods of time -40 years is not uncommon. The prudence of the capital expenditure is determined by the regulator at or near the time the expenditure is made. The long-standing understanding was that once the regulator determined that a capital expenditure was prudent, recovery of those costs over the subsequent decades was assured, and the issue of prudence would not be revisited. The UAD Decision effectively changed the rules for cost recovery part-way through the depreciable life of utility investments.

Today, if a utility asset is prematurely removed from service in Alberta, whether the utility can continue to recover its investment turns on whether the removal from service was an extraordinary retirement. As discussed below, this has increased risk and uncertainty, and the application of the extraordinary retirement test has some troubling and unfair implications.

The Extraordinary Retirement Test – Future Recovery Depends on Retirement History

In order to determine whether a utility may recover undepreciated capital costs associated with assets that have been prematurely removed from service, the Commission adopted the extraordinary retirement test. This is an accounting or depreciation concept, and it was not used nor referred to in *Stores Block* or any other decision prior to the UAD Decision.

As described above, applying the principles of ordinary and extraordinary retirements, the Commission has permitted utilities to recover the costs associated with stranded assets, *if* the specific mode of retirement was considered and accounted for in the utility's depreciation study and the resulting depreciation rates. So, for example, ATCO Electric was not able to recover the undepreciated costs of assets destroyed by the Slave Lake fire, but ATCO Gas was able to recover the undepreciated costs of assets destroyed by the 2013 flood. The difference? A past ATCO Gas depreciation study had considered and incorporated events of a similar nature to the 2013 flood, namely the 2005 Southern Alberta Flood and the 1987 tornado, in determining depreciation rates. Conversely, no prior fire event of a similar magnitude to the Slave Lake Fires (\$23.7 million in damage) had been considered in ATCO Electric's prior depreciation studies in determining the depreciation rates. Only events that had damage in the range of \$1 million to \$2 million had been considered.

This 'ordinary vs. extraordinary' distinction means that a utility must forego cost recovery for assets stranded by a mechanism or event of a type and magnitude that the utility has not experienced in the past,

but that it can recover stranded asset costs where the assets are stranded by a mechanism or event of a type and magnitude that the utility has experienced in the past. Effectively, this means that Alberta utilities will be able to recover the cost of assets destroyed by the *second* natural disaster of a particular type and magnitude, but not the first. Suppose there is widespread flooding in Alberta in 2018. For a utility that was affected by the 2013 flood, and which incorporated the resulting retirement experience into its depreciation study and resulting depreciation rates, the destruction of assets in the 2018 flood should be an ordinary retirement, such that it can recover the remaining undepreciated costs of the destroyed assets, assuming the 2018 flood is affected by the 2018 flood, the retirement experience of the 2013 flood would not be reflected in the second utility's depreciation rates. For it, the destruction of assets in the 2018 flood would be an extraordinary retirement. This is arguably unfair and arbitrary, and it is difficult to see how the principles laid out in *Stores Block* mandate such an outcome.

To date, the stranded asset costs that utility shareholders have had to absorb have been relatively modest. The largest disallowance to date is the \$8.96 million undepreciated cost of the meters replaced by EPCOR. To put this in perspective, EPCOR's 2016 mid-year net rate base was \$987.2 million.¹⁵³ Thus the largest disallowance to date, while not a mere paper cut, was not a mortal wound, either. However, the most significant stranded asset costs are likely to result from major natural disasters or severe weather. These losses could be ruinous and could threaten the survival of an affected utility. Consider, for example, the severe January 1998 ice storm in Eastern Canada that destroyed 1,500 transmission towers, 26,000 poles and 4,500 transformers in Hydro Québec's system alone.¹⁵⁴ If something like this were to occur in Alberta, whether a utility could recover the undepreciated cost of destroyed assets would depend on whether a similar event had affected the utility in the past and had thus been reflected in its depreciation rates. Those utilities for whom the destruction of facilities would be an extraordinary retirement might not survive if the UAD Decision is applied as it has been to date.

AltaLink Management Ltd. ("AltaLink"), which owns and operates one of the two largest transmission systems in Alberta, attempted to change the way it carries out depreciation studies in order to mitigate the arguably arbitrary outcomes that application of the extraordinary retirement test produces. In the dense and peculiar language of depreciation, AltaLink suggested that depreciation studies should no longer rely on gradualism and moderation and should instead have an "increased emphasis of depreciation parameters to fully reflect the future expectations of average service life and net salvage expectations."¹⁵⁵ In other words, AltaLink wanted its depreciation study to reflect more of the possible ways in which assets could be stranded. The Commission denied AltaLink's proposal, stating the gradualism and moderation "continue to be long held tenets in utility depreciation that mitigate potential errors that could otherwise result from implementing results without gradualism and moderation."¹⁵⁶

The Extraordinary Retirement Test – Implications for Investment in New Technology

The extraordinary retirement test also has implications for technical innovation, and has the potential to stifle voluntary utility investment in new technologies. EPCOR made this point in connection with its AMI investment, although EPCOR ultimately proceeded with its AMI program in spite of the significant stranded asset cost it incurred. Technological developments in all aspects of power systems are ongoing. Some

http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2016/3524-D01-2016.pdf> at para 289.

¹⁵³ Supra note 148, Exhibit 22570-X0204 at 2.

¹⁵⁴ Lesley-Ann Dupigny-Giroux, "Impacts and consequences of the ice storm of 1998 for the North American north-east" (2005) 50:1 *Weather* 7-15 at 13.

¹⁵⁵ AltaLink Management Ltd - 2015-2016 General Tariff Application (9 May 2016), 3524-D01-2016, online: AUC <

¹⁵⁶ *Ibid* at para 306.

developments and technologies can be adopted over time as existing equipment is replaced. However, other technologies, such as smart meters, need to be implemented *en masse*.¹⁵⁷ And still other technologies may need to be implemented at a particular time in response to new legislated obligations or requirements.

As a result of the UAD Decision, utilities may be understandably reluctant to make avoidable investments that have the potential to result in material stranded asset costs. Electric utilities have a statutory obligation to make decisions about building, upgrading and improving the electric distribution system for the purpose of providing safe, reliable and economic service.¹⁵⁸ Gas utilities have a statutory obligation to furnish safe, adequate and proper service and maintain property and equipment in such condition as to enable the owner to do so.¹⁵⁹ However, there are likely few, if any, technological advances or innovations that *must* be adopted to comply with these obligations.

There may, however, be investments in new technology that utilities cannot avoid. Since 2015, the Alberta Government has implemented an aggressive climate change policy, the Climate Leadership Plan ("**CLP**"). Under the CLP, the government has set a number of goals to "green" Alberta's traditionally carbon-based electric industry, including setting a target of having 30% of Alberta's power needs met by renewable energy, and mandating that by 2030 there will be no emissions from coal-fired generation.

In order to achieve the 30% renewable energy goal, the Alberta Government has indicated a desire to increase the extent of microgeneration and distributed generation in the Province. Distributed generation generally refers to small-scale (up to 20 MW) generation projects that are connected directly to the lower voltage distribution system, rather than to the higher voltage transmission system. Distributed generation generally uses small scale technologies such as small natural gas generators and combined heat power plants, as well as renewable technologies such as solar, wind and hydro power, to generate power at or close to the end-user. Such projects can include "behind the meter" microgeneration (less than 5 MW) projects like solar panels installed on a customer's home, as well as larger projects built primarily to sell electricity onto the grid.

However, integrating distributed generation into the grid poses challenges for electric distribution utilities, whose systems have been designed to accommodate one-way power flows from substations to customers. Distributed generation enables distribution customers to both consume power from, and potentially supply power to, the grid, creating a bi-directional flow of electricity on distribution systems. Thus, the widespread adoption of distributed generation will require significant investment in so-called "smart grid" technology (including smart meters), and may result in significant stranding of assets.

In March 2017, the Alberta Government tasked the AUC with conducting a broad inquiry into matters relating to distributed generation in Alberta.¹⁶⁰ The Commission sought input and received evidence from

¹⁵⁷ Assume that the life of a meter is 40 years. It would therefore take 40 years to replace all existing meters with smart meters if the utility only replaced fully-depreciated meters. However, that would also mean that the benefits of smart meters (system-wide implementation of time-of-use rates, for example) could not be fully realized for 40 years. By that time, the smart meters might themselves be obsolete.

¹⁵⁸ EUA, supra note 101, s 105(1)(b).

¹⁵⁹ *GUA*, *supra* note 11, s 35(b).

¹⁶⁰ Order in Council, OC 120/2017, online:

<http://www.qp.alberta.ca/documents/orders/Orders in Council/2017/317/2017_120.pdf>.

Alberta electric utilities, the Alberta Electric System Operator ("**AESO**"), and other interested stakeholders and members of the public.¹⁶¹

One of the issues raised by the electric utilities in the proceeding was their potential liability for stranded asset costs associated with the development of distributed generation in accordance with the principles set out by the Commission in the UAD Decision. The electric utilities indicated that they were unwilling to assume such liability in order to meet the government's policy objectives, reiterated their concerns with the stranded asset risk implications of the UAD Decision, and called for statutory change to address these concerns.¹⁶² For example, FortisAlberta Inc. submitted:

FortisAlberta recognizes that the future development of Alberta's electric distribution grid will potentially include the deployment of new asset types and technology. It is possible that certain of these deployments may cause other existing assets to be subject to sudden obsolescence because of lack of retrocompatibility, or other factors. These potential occurrences currently represent a risk of existing system assets being stranded, or otherwise deemed to be "extraordinary retirements", in accordance with the principles established in the Commission's Utility Asset Disposition decision.

The Climate Change Initiative demonstrates the inadvisability of leaving in place, without governmental consideration of and possible statutory revision to, the constraints and risks placed upon utilities by the UAD Decision. In FortisAlberta's submission, it would be contrary to a fair interpretation of the regulatory bargain if it, and other utilities, were to be required to make substantial investments to further the objects of the Climate Leadership Plan, while exposing such investments to potential non-recovery in accordance with UAD Decision principles.¹⁶³

Following the proceeding, the AUC prepared a report for the government that set out its various findings in relation to the matters covered in the proceeding. The Commission provided its final report to the Minister of Energy on December 29, 2017. The report has not yet been publicly released.¹⁶⁴

The Alberta Government responded to similar concerns expressed by the owners of coal-fired generating units by providing compensation in connection with the CLP. In order to achieve the goal of eliminating coal-fired emissions by 2030, in November 2016, the Alberta Government agreed to make transitional payments to companies that own legacy coal-fired thermal generation units with operating lives that extend beyond 2030 to compensate them for the "approximate economic disruption to their capital investments".¹⁶⁵

It has been reported that the Alberta Government is expected to pay three coal-fired generating plant operators (TransAlta Corp., ATCO Ltd. and Capital Power Corp.) a total of \$97 million dollars per year until 2030 (\$1.36 billion in total) in exchange for shutting down six coal-fired generation units prior to the

¹⁶¹ *Regulatory process initiated for electric distribution system-connected generation review (distributed generation review)*, (31 March 2017), Proceeding 22534, online: AUC <

http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2017/22534.pdf >.

¹⁶² *Distributed Generation Review Proceeding*, Application No. 22534-A0001, Proceeding No. 22534, online: AUC < http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/Pages/Distributed-generation-review.aspx>.

¹⁶³ Proceeding No. 22534, Exhibit 22534-X0284 (Further Submission of FortisAlberta Inc., 15 September 2017) online: AUC https://www2.auc.ab.ca/Proceeding22534/ProceedingDocuments/22534_X0284_2017-09-15FortisAlbertaFurtherSubmission_0310.pdf>.

¹⁶⁴ Supra note 162. As at the date of this paper, the report had not been publicly released.

¹⁶⁵ Government of Alberta, "Phasing out coal pollution", online: <<u>https://www.alberta.ca/climate-coal-electricity.aspx#toc-1>.</u>

end of their expected operating lives.¹⁶⁶ Thus, in pursuit of the policy objective of achieving zero emissions from coal by 2030, the Alberta Government agreed to compensate operators of coal-fired generation facilities for the stranded value of their generation facilities. The decision to make these payments was entirely policy driven: the Alberta Government committed to this compensation despite having no statutory or legal obligation to do so, in order to achieve the goal set out in the CLP. Perhaps it is reasonable to assume that the Alberta Government would at least consider taking similar measures to achieve its goal of increasing the penetration of distributed generation.

Is the No-hindsight Prudence Test Dead?

When discussing prudence in the context of a utility's rate base, whether a cost is "prudent" such that it is included in rate base must be distinguished from the "no-hindsight prudence investment test".

Whether a cost is prudent is a fundamental part of determining what is included in rate base. This has not been affected by the *Stores Block* line of cases. Under section 37 of the *GUA* and section 122 of the *EUA*, respectively, the rates set by the Commission are required to provide gas and electric utilities a reasonably opportunity to recover only their prudent costs. Thus, investment prudence is a necessary threshold to utility investment cost recovery. As noted in *ATCO Pension*, under both the *GUA* and the *EUA*, the onus rests on a utility to demonstrate that its capital expenditures are prudent.¹⁶⁷

This threshold prudence requirement is distinct from the "no-hindsight prudent investment test" which was the historical approach to continued inclusion of utility assets in rate base and provided that once a cost is "prudently incurred" it would remain in rate base until the utility fully recovered a return on and a return of its investment. Although it had been historically applied by the Commission's predecessors, in the UAD Appeal the Alberta Court of Appeal held that neither the *GUA* nor the *EUA* mandated the application of the "no-hindsight prudence investment test" to a utility's rate base. As the Court noted, utilities in Alberta do not have a guaranteed right to recover their prudently incurred costs or to earn a specific rate of return.¹⁶⁸ In *ATCO Pension*, the Supreme Court of Canada reviewed the legislative scheme for gas and electric utilities in Alberta, and similarly concluded that the use of the "no-hindsight prudence investment test" is not a mandatory requirement in terms of the methodology the Commission applies in determining just and reasonable rates.¹⁶⁹

As EPCOR argued in Decision 22394-D01-2018, the Supreme Court of Canada in *OPG* did acknowledge that the no-hindsight prudence investment test was a tool available for regulators to "soften the potentially harsh effect of the used and useful test, which may place onerous burdens on utilities" and could be a useful tool to permit the recovery of costs when to not do so "may imperil the financial health of utilities, and may chill the incentive to make such investments in the first place".¹⁷⁰ However, this line of argument did not persuade the Commission to use the no-hindsight prudence investment test in Decision 22394-D01-2018,

¹⁶⁶ Reid Southwick, "Alberta reaches \$1.36 deal to shut down coal plants", Calgary Herald (25 November 2016), online: <<u>http://calgaryherald.com/business/energy/alberta-reaches-1-36b-deal-to-shut-down-coal-plants</u>>.

¹⁶⁷ ATCO Pension, supra note 126 at paras 42, 45.

¹⁶⁸ UAD Appeal, supra note 89 at paras 130, 140 (for gas utilities) and paras 157, 164 (for electric utilities). Note that in the UAD Appeal the Court of Appeal did recognize that a guaranteed prudent cost recovery model would be a permissible interpretation of the EUA but it was not the only one and it held that the Commission's rejection of such a model and applying the used or useful test was reasonable.

¹⁶⁹ ATCO Pension, supra note 126 at para 32.

¹⁷⁰ OPG, supra note 125 at para 91.

which raises the question: is the no-hindsight prudence investment test dead in relation to utility regulation in Alberta?

The short answer is that, subject to one potential narrow exception, the Commission is not (and has never been) statutorily obliged to apply the no hindsight prudence test under the *GUA* and the *EUA*. Further, based on the Commission's strict interpretation of the property law principles in *Stores Block*, absent legislative amendment, the Commission appears unlikely to apply the no-hindsight prudence test in the future in relation to rate base investments.

The narrow exception relates to the opening left by the Supreme Court of Canada in *OPG* and *ATCO Pension*; namely that the no-hindsight prudent investment test may be required if "prudently incurred" language is used in the legislation. This is the case for electric utility costs that fall under paragraphs 122(1)(d) or 122(1)(g) of the *EUA*. The Supreme Court referred to these subsections in paragraph 39 of the *ATCO Pension* case:

By contrast, certain provisions use the adverb "prudently" to qualify the utility's decision to incur costs: s.122(1)(d) speaks of costs and expenses that are "reasonable and prudently incurred" and s.122(1)(g) refers to costs and expenses associated with financial arrangements that were "prudently made". Though this case does not call upon this Court to evaluate the types of expenses covered by s.122(1)(d) or (g), statutory language referring to "prudently incurred" costs appears to speak more directly to a utility's decision to incur costs at the time the decision was made. Such language may more directly implicate the no-hindsight approach urged by the ATCO Utilities in this case than language that merely speaks of "prudent costs". This issue is further complicated for costs arising under s. 122(1) (d), where costs must both "continue to be reasonable <u>and</u> prudently incurred". The proper interpretation of these provisions is a question best left for a case in which the issue arises. [*Emphasis in decision*.]

Therefore, electric utilities in Alberta may be able to argue that the no-hindsight prudent investment test must be used for costs that fall under paragraphs 122(1)(d) and 122(1)(g) of the *EUA*. Practically, however, the application of both these subsections is likely to be very limited. Paragraph 122(1)(d) only applies to assets that were approved by the Public Utilities Board or the EUB prior to the coming into force of the most recent version of the *EUA* in 2003. Further, as noted by the Supreme Court the language of paragraph 112(1)(d) requires that the costs must "continue to be reasonable and prudently incurred," which suggests a continued reasonableness standard, not a true no-hindsight prudence standard. Similarly, the application of paragraph 122(1)(g) pertains to a narrow category of non-capital related costs to manage financial risk associated with the pool price for power in Alberta.

Therefore, absent future legislative amendment to mandate its use, it does appear that in Alberta the nohindsight prudent investment test is, if not dead, at least moribund.

No Compensation for Stranded Asset Risk

The UAD Decision shifted the financial risk of stranded assets (or perhaps more precisely, extraordinary retirements) from ratepayers to utility shareholders. As part of its ratemaking function, the Commission must set a fair return, which it does through periodic generic cost of capital ("GCOC") proceedings. In determining a fair return, the Commission applies the so-called fair return standard to set both the ROE and the deemed capital structure or equity ratio. Often likened to a three-legged stool, the fair return standard is

made up of three tests: the comparable investment test, the financial integrity test, and the capital attraction test,¹⁷¹ as follows:

...a fair or reasonable return on capital should:

- be comparable to the return available from the application of the invested capital to other enterprises of like risk (the comparable investment standard);
- enable the financial integrity of the regulated enterprise to be maintained (the financial integrity standard); and
- permit incremental capital to be attracted to the enterprise on reasonable terms and conditions (the capital attraction standard).¹⁷²

All three tests must be met. Risk is a relevant consideration in determining both the cost of debt capital and the cost of equity capital. The risk for a utility is made up of business risk and financial risk. Financial risk exists to the extent the company incurs fixed obligations in financing its operations. Business risk is the risk inherent in the company's operations regardless of how it is financed. Generally speaking, both debt and equity investors require greater compensation for what they perceive to be higher risk.

Since 2013, Alberta utilities have argued in cost of capital proceedings that the UAD Decision has increased their business risk, but they have not been successful in convincing the Commission to make an explicit adjustment to either the approved ROE or equity ratio to account for this elevated risk. In the 2013 GCOC, the Commission concluded that no adjustment to the allowed ROE or capital structure was warranted to account for the application of the principles in the UAD Decision, primarily because the risk of losses was offset by the potential for gains.¹⁷³

In the 2016 GCOC decision, the Commission agreed there was some incremental, but unquantifiable, increase in risk as a result of the UAD Decision:

Investor perceptions have been evolving since the 2013 GCOC decision, in part, as a result of the principles laid out in the *Stores Block* decision and subsequent Court of Appeal decisions, as reviewed by the Commission in the UAD decision. The evidence of the Utilities suggested that the regulatory risk component of business risk has increased as a result of these developments. In particular, the uncertainties associated with the interpretation and application by the Commission of the definition of an "extraordinary retirement" in future circumstances creates a marked unknown future potential risk for investors. Interveners highlighted the corresponding enhanced earning opportunities that the affected utilities have by selling capital assets that are no longer required to provide utility service and the trivial nature of disallowances to date. Interveners argued that the facts to date illustrate that gains on sales should at least offset losses due to extraordinary retirements. Therefore, they argued that no additional allowed returns should be awarded because no changes have occurred since the

¹⁷¹ The fair return standard is drawn from three decisions: *Northwestern Utilities v City of Edmonton*, [1929] SCR 186, 2 DLR 4. The other decisions are *Bluefield Water Works v Public Service Commission*, 262 US 679 (1923), and *Federal Power Commission v Hope Natural Gas Co*, 320 US 591 (1944).

¹⁷² *TransCanada Pipelines Ltd Phase II (Capital Cost)*, Application No. A09636, NEB Decision RH-2-2004 (29 April 2005) at 17, online: NEB < https://apps.neb-one.gc.ca/REGDOCS/File/Download/365091>.

¹⁷³ 2013 Generic Cost of Capital (23 March 2015), 2191-D-01-2015, online: AUC <

http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2015/2191-D01-2015.pdf> at paras 346-351.

2013 GCOC proceeding. After reviewing the evidence, the Commission determined above that directionally, regulatory risk for investors in Alberta utilities has increased by some incremental but unquantifiable amount as a result of the *Stores Block*-UAD line of decisions.¹⁷⁴

However, the Commission found that this incremental increase in risk did not warrant an adjustment to the utilities' approved ROEs.

While the Commission did conclude that the *Stores Block* line of cases resulted in some "upward pressure on return expectations of investors since the 2013 GCOC proceeding" it found no evidence on the record that any of the utilities were facing a credit rating downgrade in the foreseeable future.¹⁷⁵ In the 2016 GCOC Decision, the Commission observed that the distribution utility ROEs for 2013, 2014 and 2015 were, in most cases, higher than the approved ROEs by more than 100 basis points for all three years.¹⁷⁶ The Commission therefore found there was no basis to conclude that there was an appreciable increase in earnings volatility risk under PBR and, by implication, no appreciable increase in earnings volatility due to the *Stores Block* line of cases (including the UAD Decision) that justified increasing the approved ROEs for Alberta utilities.¹⁷⁷

The Commission's rationale for not compensating utilities for UAD risk is that the risk of losses arising from stranded assets is balanced by the potential for gains on the disposition of utility assets outside the ordinary course of business. It is certainly true that in the immediate aftermath of *Stores Block*, there were a number of disposition applications, all of which resulted in gains to the utilities. These applications were for the disposition of surplus land (and in some cases associated structures). Indeed, it is unlikely that there would be a material gain on the disposition of any utility property other than land, which is generally the only non-depreciating asset in rate base. And the gains on dispositions are limited to the difference between the net book value and the sale price (or fair market value). On the other hand, there is arguably no such natural limit on the magnitude of unrecoverable losses associated with stranded assets, since those losses are related to the event that caused the retirement. It is also important to note that the fact that unrecoverable stranded asset costs have to date been relatively modest says nothing about the potential for future catastrophic losses.

In recent years, the ROEs and equity ratios approved by the Commission have been among the lowest in Canada, and lower than the US average, as the following figure shows.

¹⁷⁷ *Ibid* at para 536.

¹⁷⁴ 2016 Generic Cost of Capital (7 October 2016), 20622-D01-2016, online: AUC <

http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2016/20622-D01-2016.pdf> at para 521.

¹⁷⁵ *Ibid* at para 523. This is an unusually narrow test. Credit ratings are important to debt investors, but much less important to equity investors, who are more concerned about ensuring that the return they can earn is commensurate with the risks of the enterprise in which they are investing.

¹⁷⁶ Ibid at para 535: Except for ENMAX Power Corporation and AltaGas Utilities Inc. in 2015.



Figure 1: Approved 2017 Equity Returns

Source: Concentric Energy Advisors, Inc. "Authorized Return on Equity for Canadian and US Gas and electric Utilities" Volume V, May 25, 2017,¹⁷⁸ online: http://www.cga.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/2017-Authorized-Return-on-Equity-Newsletter_05.25.17-ENGLISH.pdf>

From an investor's perspective, this graph suggests that the Commission believes that Alberta utilities face lower risk than most other Canadian utilities. Yet Alberta utilities face a material stranded asset business risk that no other North American utilities face.¹⁷⁹ One can certainly see why Alberta utilities question whether the returns approved by the Commission meet the capital attraction and comparable investment tests under the fair return standard.

CONCLUSION

Alberta utilities first welcomed the decision of the Supreme Court of Canada in *Stores Block* on the basis that it clarified that principles of property ownership applied to utility assets, and confirmed that utility shareholders were entitled to any gains that resulted from utility asset dispositions outside of the ordinary

¹⁷⁸ The graph shows the 2017 equity return for every Canadian gas or electric distribution utility whose cost of capital is set through a litigated proceeding, as well as the average equity return for US gas and electric distributors. Alberta utilities are shown in red. The equity return is the product of the ROE and the equity ratio. For example, an ROE of 10% and an equity ratio of 40% yields an equity return of 4%. We corrected the equity ratio for ENMAX Power Corporation, which was incorrectly shown as 37%, when it should have been 36% (see *ENMAX Power Corporation - Application for Finalization of Deemed Equity Ratio for 2016-2017* (27 July 2017), 22211-D01-2017, online: AUC

<http://www.auc.ab.ca/regulatory_documents/ProceedingDocuments/2017/22211-D01-2017.pdf> at para 84). Note also that the Commission has approved an equity ratio for AltaGas that is 400 basis points higher than other gas utilities to compensate for its very small size and correspondingly higher risk.

¹⁷⁹ Supra note 149.

course of business. However, it is doubtful that anyone foresaw the tectonic shift in the Alberta utility regulatory landscape that the decision would precipitate.

This failure to anticipate the impact that the *Stores Block* decision would have on the AUC's interpretation of the *GUA* and *EUA*, the concept of prudent utility investment recovery, and the allocation of stranded asset risk in the province was hardly unreasonable. Neither the AUC's conclusion in the UAD Decision that stranded assets must be removed from rate base and that any future extraordinary retirements of such assets must be to the account of shareholders, nor the manner in which it has subsequently applied such principle, can be said to be an obvious or logical application or extension of the ratio of *Stores Block* (particularly since Alberta is the only jurisdiction to have done so). In this regard, the impact that ATCO Gas' 'victory' in *Stores Block* had on the allocation of stranded asset risks in Alberta serves as an apt demonstration of the "law of unintended consequences".

While we disagree with the Alberta Court of Appeal's determination that the treatment of stranded assets adopted by the Commission in the UAD Decision was a reasonable application of the principles set out in *Stores Block*, we agree with Paperny J.A.'s conclusion that the UAD Decision has had 'deleterious effects' on the regulation of utilities in Alberta. The replacement of the no-hindsight prudent investment test that the Commission and its predecessors had historically applied with the extraordinary retirement test to determine whether a utility is entitled to recover capital costs: (i) gives rise to significant uncertainty in relation to a utility's ability to recover capital investments that were prudent at the time they were made; (ii) serves as a disincentive to innovation by utilities where such innovation may result in the stranding of utility assets; and (iii) appears to have undermined investor confidence in the Alberta utility sector at a time when the government is seeking to attract investment in Alberta's energy industries. In Alberta, regulated utilities do not themselves invest in renewable energy technology,¹⁸⁰ but changes to transmission and distribution infrastructure may be required to accommodate significant renewable energy generation.

Based on the current view of the Commission that it has no discretion to depart from the UAD Decision principles, we agree with Paperny J.A. that the 'deleterious effects' that have been created by the evolution of Alberta regulatory jurisprudence since *Stores Block* need to be addressed by legislative intervention. On this front there appears to be some movement. It appears that legislative intervention is likely to be the next chapter in the *Stores Block* saga.

A NEW CHAPTER?

On April 19, 2018, the Alberta government introduced Bill 13, entitled "An Act to Secure Alberta's Energy Future."¹⁸¹ Introducing the bill for first reading, the Energy Minister stated:

...if passed, this bill will enable the creation of a capacity market, increase investor confidence in Alberta's electricity system by providing policy and regulatory certainty, protect consumers when electric and natural gas service providers breach service quality and compliance standards, and provide more options to Albertans who want to generate their own electricity from renewable or alternative sources.¹⁸²

¹⁸⁰ Power generation is not subject to rate regulation in Alberta, and electric utilities do not own or operate generating facilities in Alberta.

¹⁸¹ Bill 13, An Act to Secure Alberta's Electricity Future, 4th Sess, 29th Leg, Alberta, 2018, online:

http://www.assembly.ab.ca/ISYS/LADDAR_files/docs/bills/bill/legislature_29/session_4/20180308_bill-013.pdf

¹⁸² Alberta, Legislative Assembly, *Alberta Hansard*, 29th Leg, 4th Sess, (April 19, 2018) at 606, online:

Among other things, the bill proposes amendments to the *Alberta Utilities Commission Act*¹⁸³ to deal with *Stores Block* issues. The proposed amendments would give the Commission the broad authority, when approving a tariff or setting rates, to allocate certain "direct and indirect" costs and benefits among owners of utilities and their customers.¹⁸⁴ Specifically, the Commission may allocate costs (including unrecovered capital investments) and benefits (including proceeds of sale) related to a disposition of property or the removal of property from rate base.¹⁸⁵ The proposed amendments would also allow the Commission to direct that property be removed from rate base if the property is no longer used or required to be used to provide service to the public.¹⁸⁶ No compensation would be due to a utility as a result of the Commission allocating all or any portion of benefits to customers.¹⁸⁷ However, the Commission's authority to deal with costs and benefits is not confined to present or future costs and benefits, but also to those "arising in, or determined in relation to, a prior period, whether or not rates have been finalized for that period...."¹⁸⁸ It is not clear why this retrospective jurisdiction is necessary, or in what circumstances it might be used.

The only restriction on the Commission's authority to allocate these costs and benefits is that it must do so in a manner that gives consideration to the public interest, including having regard to any social, economic and environmental effects.¹⁸⁹ The Commission may make rules setting out the considerations the Commission will take into account when allocating costs and benefits.¹⁹⁰

The bill would therefore allow the Commission to allocate both gains or losses realized on the sale or other disposition of utility property, and to determine the treatment of costs associated with property that is removed from rate base. Property may be removed from rate base either by the utility or at the direction of the Commission. While the Commission has the authority to direct the removal of property that is no longer used or required to be used to provide utility service, it is not required to do so. Presumably, therefore, the Commission could decide that a stranded asset should remain in rate base and allow the costs associated with that asset to be recovered in the ordinary course.

It remains to be seen how the reference to "direct and indirect" costs and benefits might be interpreted, but indirect costs could include environmental remediation or decommissioning costs, for example. Such an interpretation could allow the Commission to allocate such costs to the utility even if they are, objectively, reasonable and prudent costs of providing service. While the bill refers to unrecovered capital investments, the costs and benefits are not expressly confined to capital costs. Bill 13 does not amend the provisions of the EUA or GUA that prescribe the matters the Commission must consider when approving a tariff.¹⁹¹ However, in the event of any conflict or inconsistency, the amendments proposed in Bill 13 prevail. The amendments may, therefore, have the effect of modifying the right of an electric utility to a reasonable opportunity to recover its prudent costs and a fair return.

<http://www.assembly.ab.ca/ISYS/LADDAR_files/docs/hansards/han/legislature_29/session_4/20180419_1330_01_han.pdf#pa ge=16>.

¹⁸³ Alberta Utilities Commission Act, SA 2007 c A-37.2 [AUCA].

¹⁸⁴ Proposed amendment to AUCA: s. 17.1(2).

¹⁸⁵ s. 17.1(4).

¹⁸⁶ s. 17.1(3)(a).

¹⁸⁷ s. 17.1(5).

¹⁸⁸ s. 17.1(2).

¹⁸⁹ s. 17.1(2).

¹⁹⁰ Proposed amendment to AUCA: s. 17.1(7)(a).

¹⁹¹ For example, s. 122 of the *EUA* and Part 4 of the *GUA*.

The authority to allocate costs and benefits is extraordinarily broad. If passed in its current form, Bill 13 would effectively give the Commission *carte blanche* with respect to the financial consequences of both dispositions and stranded assets. It could continue to use the extraordinary retirement test if it wished to do so, and it could reinstate the TransAlta Formula. The Commission could also apply different considerations for different causes of premature retirement or based on the materiality of the costs or benefits.

The amendments proposed in Bill 13 are a complicated means of dealing with a relatively straight-forward issue. Read as a whole, the proposed amendments appear intended to give the Commission the broadest possible authority to deal with the financial treatment of dispositions of utility assets and stranded assets (including continuing the *status quo* and continuing to apply the flawed extraordinary retirement test). While the willingness of the Alberta government to address *Stores Block* issues through legislative amendments is a positive development, it is not at all clear that Bill 13 achieves the objective of increasing investor confidence or providing policy and regulatory certainty. Indeed, in the short term, uncertainty regarding the treatment of stranded asset costs and of gains and losses on dispositions would almost certainly increase if Bill 13 were passed. Capital market reaction to Bill 13 was swift and negative. BMO, for example, expressed disappointment with the UAD-related provisions of Bill 13 and indicated that the bill was "credit negative."¹⁹²

It is the UAD Decision that has undermined investor confidence, and giving the Commission virtually unfettered discretion to deal with stranded assets is arguably not the best way to provide policy and regulatory certainty. If the Legislature wished to increase investor confidence, it could deal with the stranded asset issue by expressly requiring the Commission to use the no-hindsight prudent investment standard, for example, and making it clear that the recovery of capital investments that were prudent at the time they were made is not at risk. This would put Alberta utilities back on the same footing as utilities in all other Canadian jurisdictions.

¹⁹² Marisa Jones, BMO Capital Markets, "Corporate Debt – Utilities – Impact of Introduction of Bill 13 to Alberta Utilities", Online: https://bmo.bluematrix.com/docs/shorthtml/d10f3eac-fda2-4bfa-8f4e-3769a85774a6.html; BMO stated: "The current wording of the Bill regarding Utility Asset Disposition appears credit negative, as it fails to resolve the potential for outsized losses at a utility in the instance an asset is deemed no longer of use for utility purposes."